Mutation Analyser version 1.00



User Manual





Contents

1. Introducti	on	1-1
	1.1 Using the software	1-2
	1.1.1 Software protection device	1-3
	1.1.2 Windows 95 operating system	1-3
	1.1.3 Menu commands	1-3
	1.2 Using this manual	1-3
	1.2.1 Examples used	1-4
	1.2.2 Typographical conventions	1-4
2. System requirements		2-1
	2.1 Hardware	2-1
	2.1.1 Computer	2-1
	2.1.2 Printers	2-1
	2.2 Operating system	2-1
3. Software i	installation	3-1
	3.1 Installation of Mutation Analyser	3-1
	3.2 Uninstalling Mutation Analyser	3-2
4. Basic ope	ration	4-1
	4.1 Starting the application	4-1
	4.2 Creating and loading an analysis item	4-2
	4.2.1 Creating an analysis item	4-2
	4.2.2 Adding batch samples	4-6
	4.2.3 Removing a selected sample	4-8
	4.2.4 Saving an analysis item	4-8
	4.2.5 Loading an analysis item	4-8
	4.3 Performing an analysis	4-9
	4.3.1 Deviation calculation options	4-9
	4.3.2 Associating a sample sequence to a fragment	4-11
	4.3.3 Calculating the deviations and quality summary	4-11
	4.4 Deviations Table	4-14
	4.4.1 Display options for the Deviations Table	4-14
	4.4.2 Displaying deviation information	4-17
	4.4.5 Alignment field	4-10 1_10
	4.5 1 Sequencing direction	4-19 A_19
	4.5.2 Alignment deviations	4-20
	4.5.3 Viewing sample or alignment information	4-20
	4.6 Raw Data Curves field	4-20
	4.6.1 Changing the display window size	4-21
	4.6.2 The zoom function	4-21
	4.6.3 Curve shift correction	4-22
	4.6.4 Curve amplitude scales	4-22
	4.6.5 Multiple raw data curve sets	4-22
	4.6.6 Separate scrollbars	4-25

4.7 Assignment bar	4-25
4.8 Analysis overview	4-26
4.8.1 Using the zoom function within Overview mode	4-27
4.8.2 Selecting a deviation for evaluation	4-28
4.8.3 Adjusting sequencer fragments	4-28
4.8.4 Changing the overview display options	4-29
4.9 Adding comments about the analysis	4-30
4.10 Save settings for options	4-30
4.11 Finding a sequence	4-31
4.12 Adjusting bases in the sequence	4-32
4.13 Printing a report	4-33
4.13.1 Printing a report	4-33
4.13.2 Printing a deviations report	4-35
4.13.3 Printing a report to file	4-35
4.14 Exporting reports and results	4-35
4.15 Changing user	4-36
4.16 Exiting the application	4-37
5. Deviation analysis	5-1
5.1 Types of alignment deviations	5-1
5.2 Single base deviations	5-1
5.2.1 Point replacement deviations	5-2
5.2.2 Ambiguity deviations	5-3
5.2.3 Sequence stop deviations	5-5
5.2.4 Hotspot deviations	5-6
5.2.5 User assignment of single base deviations	5-7
5.2.6 Approving multiple deviations	5-8
5.3 Insertion/deletion assignments	5-9
5.3.1 User assignment of insertion/deletion deviations	5-10
5.4 Mixture insertion/deletion deviation assignments	5-12
5.4.1 Recognising mixture insertion/deletion deviations	5-13
5.4.2 Performing a mixture analysis	5-15
5.4.3 Using the alignment field to evaluate mixture analysis results	5-17
5.4.4 User assignment of mixture insertion/deletion deviations	5-20
5.4.5 Advanced options for mixture insertion/deletion	
deviation assignments	5-23
5.4.6 Understanding mixture assignments	5-25
5.5 User detected deviation	5-28
5.6 Some "Golden rules" for interpreting mutation data	5-29
5.6.1 Single base deviations	5-29
5.6.2 Deletions and insertions	5-30
6. Configuration Editor	6-1
6.1 Creating a new gene configuration	6-1
6.2 Defining a region	6-2
6.2.1 Importing an ALF/ALX sequence	6-2
6.2.2 Importing GenBank sequences	6-5
6.2.3 Importing ASCII file sequences	6-7

	6.3 Navigating the region	6-8
	6.3.1 Using the zoom function	6-8
	6.3.2 Finding a sequence	6-9
	6.3.3 Defining gene configuration objects	6-11
	6.3.4 Adjusting bases in the sequence	6-11
	6.4 Adding objects to the gene configuration	6-12
	6.4.1 Adding a new object:	6-12
	6.4.2 Defining the extent of objects	6-16
	6.4.3 Defining exons based on case	6-18
	6.4.4 Including mutation frequency statistics	6-20
	6.5 Selecting, editing and deleting objects	6-20
	6.5.1 Selecting an object	6-20
	6.5.2 Editing an object	6-20
	6.5.3 Deleting an object	6-21
	6.6 Working with several regions	6-21
	6.6.1 Adding new regions	6-21
	6.6.2 Viewing the whole configuration	6-21
	6.6.3 Rearranging regions	6-22
	6.6.4 Deleting a region	6-24
	6.7 Defining the amino acid sequence	6-25
	6.7.1 Contiguously numbered exons	6-25
	6.7.2 Non-contiguously numbered exons	6-28
	6.7.3 Selecting the wrong reading frame	6-29
	6.7.4 Amino acid sequences for mRNA/cDNA configurations	6-30
	6.7.5 Codon translation options	6-31
	6.8 Saving and loading a gene configuration	6-32
	6.9 Exporting a region	6-32
	6.10 Printing a report	6-32
	6.10.1 Configuration report options	6-32
	6.10.2 Printing the configuration	6-33
	6.11 Converting from a genomic DNA to a mRNA/cDNA	
	configuration	6-33
	6.12 Exiting the application	6-33
	6.13 Examples of some configurations	6-34
	6.13.1 Ret genomic DNA gene configuration	6-34
	6.13.2 BRCA1 genomic DNA gene configuration	6-35
	6.13.3 p53 cDNA gene configuration	6-36
7. Troublesho	poting	7-1
	- 7 1 DC hardwara	71
	7.9 Drintor	7 1
	7.6 I IIIICI 7.2 Softwara	79
	7.3.1 Mutation Analyser	1-6
	7.0.1 Williauton Analysen 7.1 Other problems	7-2 7 Q
		7-0

A. Evaluation algorithms	A-1
B. Export to database	B-1
C. Cited literature	C-1
Index	

1. Introduction

Sequence-based analysis is rapidly becoming the gold standard in many mutation study areas due to its ultra-high level of sensitivity and specificity. It becomes an increasingly important tool when used together with other popular screening methods such as Immunohistochemical (IHC) analysis and single strand conformation polymorphism (SSCP).

Mutation Analyser from Amersham Biosciences is a software package specifically developed for sequence-based, automated detection of base-specific aberrations in sample sequences generated by ALF*express* or ALF series sequencer instruments.

Mutation Analyser can detect several types of deviation in the sample sequence, including *replacements* at single base positions, *explicit insertions or deletions*, and *mixture insertions or deletions* occurring in heterogeneous cell populations. The software utilises a gene configuration as the basis for comparison, which is itself created in a separate Configuration Editor module supplied with Mutation Analyser. A gene configuration is assembled using wild type sequence data obtained from the major Internet databases or from sequences generated by ALF/ALF*express* sequencers.

Key features of Mutation Analyser

- Automated detection of single base aberrations
 Deviations at the single base level are automatically detected, including point replacements (typically mutations or polymorphisms), explicit insertions or deletions, and mixed population insertion/deletions.
- Deviation detection in mixed cell populations A unique mixture analysis function locates insertions or deletions specific to mixed cell populations and samples taken from heterozygous cell sources.

• **Rapid and simultaneous analysis of many samples** Many sample sequences can be simultaneously and rapidly analysed.

• Interactive user assignment

Use the extensive analysis information to perform an interactive user assignment for each deviation. You can approve a deviation, assign the deviation back to wild type, or assign an undetermined flag for further evaluation.

• Genomic DNA and cDNA/mRNA

Sample sequences from genomic DNA and cDNA/mRNA can be analysed. The software automatically accounts for intron regions in genomic DNA sequences.

• Platform for creating gene configurations

The Configuration Editor module allows you to create or edit gene configurations against which sample sequences are analysed. In a gene configuration you are able to define sequencer fragments, exons, areas of interest and points of interest. Thus, the gene configuration defines and documents your evaluation method.

• Amino acid sequence for the coding sequence

Configuration Editor automatically generates the amino acid sequence for the coding sequence data defined in the exons of a gene configuration.

• Long gene configurations

The complete gene configuration can contain 100 sequence regions, each of up to 20,000 bases in length.

• User-defined deviations

Study the raw data curves and include your own user-defined deviations for evaluation.

• Generation of reports and export files

The results of an analysis and subsequent user evaluation can be presented in a full report. Moreover, vital information can be exported to database for subsequent inclusion in other software applications.

• Graphically interactive analysis

The analysis proceeds in a few clearly defined and straightforward stages. Sample information, raw data graphs and analysis data are graphically presented in full colour to enhance user interaction and optimise the evaluation process.

• Windows 95

The software has a modern user interface developed for Windows 95.

1.1 Using the software

You should check that your computer complies with the minimum hardware specification requirements detailed in Chapter 2 and that you are using Microsoft Windows 95 operating system.

The application software should be installed according to the instructions in Chapter 3.

1.1.1 Software protection device

Each Mutation Analyser software supplied by Amersham Biosciences comes with a HASP[®] software protection device. The HASP[®] fits into any parallel port of an IBM compatible PC and contains a code that is matched with the current version of the software. In order for the software to run properly, the HASP[®] must be fitted prior to software installation. The HASP[®] is transparent which means that peripherals, such as a printer, can be attached to the parallel port containing the HASP and function normally.

Note: If the HASP is not fitted, Mutation Analyser can only be used for demonstration purposes using the supplied Demo files.

1.1.2 Windows 95 operating system

It is assumed that you have a working knowledge of Microsoft Windows 95. For further information on specific operating system functions and terms, you should refer to the appropriate user manual.

1.1.3 Menu commands

Many of the menu commands in Mutation Analyser are similarly located on the right mouse button menu. The contents of a menu are dependent on the field from which you activate the right mouse button function. Many of these menu commands are indicated in the manual, and those that are not mentioned you will quickly find through working with the software. You will also find many keyboard shortcuts and these are summarised in the on-line Help.

1.2 Using this manual

This User Manual provides you with step-by-step instructions on how to perform an analysis using Mutation Analyser and gives you guidance in using the various tools necessary for evaluating the results. To successfully use Mutation Analyser, you are recommended to read this manual entirely.

Chapter 2	This tells you the minimum and recommended hardware requirements needed to run Mutation Analyser.
Chapter 3	This gives a brief description of how to install Mutation Analyser.
Chapter 4	This gives you an overview of the basic operation of Mutation Analyser.

Chapter 5	This introduces the various types of deviation and describes the process used to evaluate your samples.
Chapter 6	This describes the Configuration Editor module used for creating your own gene configurations.
Chapter 7	This describes some of the error messages that you may encounter and how to solve common hardware problems.

1.2.1 Examples used

In order to best describe the software functions and processes, examples from three gene configurations are used:

- Ret genomic DNA gene configuration, Exons 10, 11, 16 (*Courtesy of* Dr Jorge A. Leon and co-workers at Quest Diagnostics Nichols Institute, San Juan Capistrano, California, USA)
- BRCA1 genomic DNA gene configuration, Exons 1 through 24 excepting the non-coding Exon 4 (*Courtesy of Prof. Hans K. Schackert and co-workers at the Department of Surgical Research, University of Dresden, Germany*)
- p53 cDNA gene configuration

1.2.2 Typographical conventions

Menu commands, the names of dialogue boxes and windows, the contents of boxes and windows and option buttons are written with a **bold Helvetica** typeface. Menu commands are written with first the menu name and then the specific command, separated by a colon. For example:

Select File:Save Analysis Item As to display the Save Analysis Item As dialogue. Enter the file name and select the destination drive and directory. Click on OK.

This directs you to click on the **File** menu and select the command, **Save Analysis Item As**. A dialogue called **Save Analysis Item As** will be displayed in which you must select the name, drive and directory of the file. You then click on the button named **OK**.

Some menu commands also have shortcut keys on the keyboard, which are written within < > marks.

2. System requirements

2.1 Hardware

2.1.1 Computer Computer	Compaq Pentium 133 MHz computer (minimum PC with 486 processor, clock speed 66 MHz)
RAM memory	32 Mb (minimum 16 Mb)
Disk memory	10 Mb free hard disk space for program
Graphics	SuperVGA graphics adapter, 256 colours (Minimum VGA graphics adapter)

2.1.2 Printers

The following printers have been tested for compatibility with Mutation Analyser:

HP DeskJet 660C, 560C

HP LaserJet 5 MP

2.2 Operating system

Mutation Analyser must be installed in the 32-bit operating environment, Windows 95 (see Chapter 3).

3. Software installation

One set of installation diskettes is supplied that contain:

- Mutation Analyser 1.00
- Configuration Editor 1.00
- Demo files

The various components are to be installed in the 32-bit Windows 95 (International Edition) operating environment.

3.1 Installation of Mutation Analyser

- 1. Insert the HASP[®] into a parallel port on your computer.
- 2. Turn on the computer. Microsoft Windows 95 should start automatically.
- 3. Insert Disc 1 into drive A.
- 4. Click on the taskbar Start menu and select **Run**.
- 5. Enter **a:setup** at the command prompt and click on **OK**.
- 6. Follow the instructions on the screen.
- 7. Remove the final program disc from drive A once the installation is complete.
- 8. The computer must be restarted after installation.

Mutation Analyser and Configuration Editor should be available under the installation directory **Program files\Biotech\Mutation** (unless you changed the directory during installation) and are therefore located on the taskbar Start menu under Programs/Mutation Analyser 1.00.

3.2 Uninstalling Mutation Analyser

Should you want to uninstall Mutation Analyser:



Alternatively, select the **Uninstall** option from the taskbar Start menu under Programs/Mutation Analyser 1.00.

2. Follow the instructions on the screen.

You may get a warning message that some of the driver files may be shared by other applications. If you are unsure about a specific file, do *not* select to uninstall the file. Remaining files should not affect your system.

4. Basic operation

This chapter introduces the basic operation of Mutation Analyser. You will learn how to create analysis items and then perform an analysis. You will be introduced to the various screen components before and after an analysis and become familiar with some of the important tools needed to evaluate your results. You will gain further instruction on printing reports and exporting results to database for use in other applications.

Chapter 5 later goes on to introduce the types of deviation that you are likely to encounter and guides you in the process of performing user assignments for the deviations.

4.1 Starting the application

To start the application:

- 1. Locate and select the Mutation Analyser program in the taskbar Start menu for Windows 95.
- 2. The start-up screen is displayed together with the User Identification dialogue requesting you to enter your User ID.

Your user ID can be alphanumeric and contain up to 25 characters, and you must enter at least one character to proceed. The user name is a necessary component for the generation of reports.

User Identification	X
User ID	<u>C</u> ontinue
	E <u>x</u> it

Figure 4-1. User Identification panel.

The last five entered user IDs are stored in the pull-down list, so it is possible to select your user name here if it is one of the last five.

User Identification	×
User ID	<u><u>C</u>ontinue</u>
Maria Lennart	E <u>x</u> it
Clof Erik Gary	

Figure 4-2. Pull-down list in User Identification panel

3. Click on the **Continue** button. By default, an empty **Analysis Item** window is displayed.

4.2 Creating and loading an analysis item

In order to make an analysis, you must create an *analysis item*, which comprises the following components:

- A gene configuration containing the wild type sequence against which sample sequences are aligned and analysed (see Chapter 6 for details on creating gene configurations)
- Sample sequences from one or more ALF/ALF*express* sequencing runs that can be aligned with the gene configuration sequence and be analysed
- Possible additional ALF/ALX samples for reference purposes in the analysis

4.2.1 Creating an analysis item

After you have started the application, an **Analysis Item** window is displayed called **Noname.itm**. The gene configuration last used is already loaded.

1. Select File:Load Gene Configuration to load a new gene configuration. The Load Gene Configuration dialogue is displayed. Select a configuration file and click on Open.

For example, select the configuration file called, RETdemo.cfg.

Gene configuration data is automatically displayed in the **Gene Configuration** field.



Raw Data Cerves	Gene Configuration
	Description RETrievio
	Coverent To be used for demo purposes on
	Configuration Type Genomic DNA
	Current Translation Universal
	Frequent1 Fingment1; 1:1-148; Ant-Second
	Sample Information
	Senates
	Samples

Figure 4-3. Analysis Item window containing gene configuration data for Ret exons 10, 11 and 16.

2. Select File:Add Sample(s). In the Open ALF file dialogue, select the appropriate drive and directory containing your samples. Select an ALF/ALX file.

For example, select RETdemo1.alx.

Click on Open.

Open ALF file			? ×
Look(n	🖼 Semples	• 🖻 🖻	
p53demo1 / p53demo2 / p53demo3 / p53demo4 / P553mical RETdemo1 RETdemo3	He He He Ak Ak		
File game:	* alx;*.až		Öpen
Files of type:	ALF/ALX files (*.alx*.alf)		Cancel

Figure 4-4. Open ALF/ALX file panel for adding samples.

3. The ALF file dialogue box is displayed. An ALF/ALX file contains one or more samples and information about each sample, previously added in the sequencing software.

Op	File Header erator Demo	Bun Exen 1		
Dø	te 09-20-96	Cond Stands	ard	
Ann	ilable Samples			
	Norva	Comment		
1	Empty			
2	Emply			
3	0.0110	rec 0001		
4	empty excent10	ret_tel		
and the second se	and the second se			

Figure 4-5. ALF/ALX file dialogue with a Ret gene Exon 10 sample selected.

To add an available sample, select a sample and click on the Add sample(s) button.

For example, select the sample named **exon 10** with comment **ret_0001** and add it to the analysis item. This sample is known to contain base-specific deviations compared with the wild type sequence for exon 10 in the gene configuration.

Repeat this process for other samples in the current ALF/ALX file. These may be reference samples that are not included in the analysis process but instead used for comparative purposes of the raw data curves. Check the **Reference Fragment** option to include the sample for reference purposes only.

For example, select the sample named **exon 10** with comment **ret_ref**, check the **Reference Fragment** box and add the sample to the analysis item. This sample is the wild type sequence for exon 10 as used in the gene configuration.

4. To add a sample from another ALF/ALX file, click on the Next ALF/ALX file button. This will return you to the Open ALF file dialogue in the same drive and directory from where you made your previous ALF/ALX file selection. Select a new ALF/ALX file.

For example, select the file called **RETdemo2.alx** and add the mutant sample **exon 11**, **ret_0001** and the reference fragment **exon 11**, **ret_ref**.

5. Repeat steps 3 and 4 until you have obtained all of the samples that you want to include in your new analysis item.

For example, include the final sample for a Ret gene analysis by selecting the file called **RETdemo3.aix** and adding the mutant sample **exon 16**, **ret_0001** and the reference fragment **exon 16**, **ret_ref**.

6. When you have added all relevant samples, click on the **Exit** button. The **Analysis Item** window will be again displayed containing all information about the selected samples.

For example, you should now have six samples, including a sample sequence and a reference sample sequence for each of the Ret gene exons 10,11, 16.



Figure 4-6. Analysis Item window containing sample information.

The new fields include:

Sample Information	Information about the sample selected in the Samples field is shown here. This information was previously entered using the sequencing software.
Samples	The names of the samples you included are listed here, including any reference samples. Selection of a sample affects what is displayed in other fields.

Raw Data Curves

This shows the raw data curves produced by the automatic sequencer and processed using the sequencing software (see Section 4.3.3).

4.2.2 Adding batch samples

If you have many ALF/ALX files and you want to locate a specific series of samples within the files and add them to an analysis item, you can search for these samples and add them as a batch.

- 1. Start the application and load a gene configuration into the analysis item as described in step 1 of Section 4.2.1.
- 2. Select File:Add Batch Samples. The Add Batch Samples dialogue is displayed.

dd Batch Samples	
Search For	
Clone Name	
Clone Comment [ret_0001	
Search In C:\\BIOTECH\MUTATION	Search
Change	Cencel.
🗖 Include Subdirectories	Exit

Figure 4-7. Batch Load Samples dialogue. The clone comment 'ret_0001' has been entered as the search string.

3. Enter a search string based on the Clone Name and/or Clone Comment.

For example, to find all of the sample sequences corresponding to exons 10, 11, 16 in the Ret gene configuration, enter **ret_0001** in the **Clone Comment** field.

4. You can direct the search to take place in any directory. If you want to change the currently selected directory, click on the **Change** button and select the new search directory. Check the **Include Subdirectories** option if you the want the search extended to subdirectories of the search directory.

For example, the RET demo files are located in the Samples subdirectory under the Mutation directory.

5. Click on **Search**. The results of the search are displayed in the **ALF/ALX file** dialogue.

For example, all samples containing the **Clone Comment** ret_0001 will be located and displayed.

	Clone	Clone Name	Comment
:(Program Files)Biote	а	jexcon 10	ret_0001
(Program Files)Biote	1	exce 11	ret_0001
VProgram Files\Biote	7	@x0#16	Het_0001

Figure 4-8. ALF/ALX file dialogue after a search for batch clones. In this example, clones for the Ret gene exons 10,11,16 were located corresponding to the Clone Comment search string 'ret_0001'.

In the Available Samples list you can see the located File Names and pathway, the number of the Clone in the sample file, the Clone Name and Comment.

6 To add an available sample, select it and click on the Add sample(s) button. Repeat this process for other samples.

Alternatively, you can select several clones at once by clicking on the first sample and then pressing the <Shift> key while you click on the last sample. All samples between the two will be automatically selected. Click on **Add** to include these in the analysis item.

7. When you have added all relevant samples from the current search, click on **Exit**. The **Add Batch Samples** dialogue is shown allowing you to make another search following steps 2 to 6.

For example, you can add the reference fragments for exons 10,11, 16 by entering **ret_ref** in the **Clone Comment** field and starting the search. These samples will be located and can be added to the analysis item. Remember to check the **Fragment** option before you add the samples.

8. When you have added all of the samples, click on **Exit**. The **Analysis Item** window will be again displayed containing all information about the selected samples.

4.2.3 Removing a selected sample

If you want to remove a sample from the analysis item, select it in the **Samples** field and then select **File:Remove Selected Sample**.

4.2.4 Saving an analysis item

You are recommended to directly save a newly created analysis item. Select **File:Save Analysis Item**. In the **Save Analysis Item As** dialogue box, select the destination drive and directory and enter a file name for the new item. Click on **Save As**.



Figure 4-9. Save Analysis Item As dialogue box.

At any point during an analysis you can save the item in its current state by selecting **File:Save Analysis Item** or save a copy of the analysis item under a new file name using **File:Save Analysis Item As**.

4.2.5 Loading an analysis item

To load an analysis item, select **File:Load Analysis Item**. Select an analysis item from the appropriate drive and directory and then click on **Open**. The analysis item will be loaded in the state it was last saved.

Alternatively, you can select an analysis item listed in the **File** menu if it was one of the last four opened analysis items.

4.3 Performing an analysis

This section describes how to perform an analysis and also select the analysis options. The various screen components displayed following an analysis are introduced in sections 4.4 to 4.8. Interpretation of analysis results and user assignment are presented in Chapter 5.

4.3.1 Deviation calculation options

Prior to performing an analysis you should select the deviation calculation options.

1. Select **Options:Deviation Calculation Options**. A dialogue box is displayed.

Deviation Calculation Options	
_ Settings	
🔽 Include All Bases	ОК
Gene Configuration Direction Only	Cancel
🗖 Generate Hot Spots from Points of Inte	rest
Quality Limits	
Min. Alignment Score (0.00 - 1.00)	70
Max. No. of Single Base Deviations	
Max. No. of Gap Deviations 50	
Show Quality Summary after Deviations	Calculation.

Figure 4-10. Deviation Calculation Options dialogue box.

2. Check the appropriate Settings options.

Include all bases	Towards the end of a sequencing run, the quality of the data may deteriorate. By default, this data at the end of the run will be included in the analysis, as denoted by the checked option. By unchecking this option, this data will be excluded from the analysis.
Gene Configuration Direction Only	If this option is checked and you have defined the sequencing directions of the individual sequencer fragments in the gene configuration, the analysis will align each sample sequence in the direction specified in the gene configuration.

		Unchecking this option aligns the sample sequence in both directions with respect to the gene configuration. This latter process takes a longer time. It is recommended that you use the former method and that you define two separate sequencer fragments if both strands are being analysed.
	Generate Hotspots from	
	Points of Interest	If this option is checked, any points of interest that you defined in the gene configuration (see Section 6.4.1) will be included in Deviations Table as hotspots following analysis (see Section 5.2). This is particularly useful for labelling known polymorphisms and/or known mutation sites. Hotspots can also be user assigned (see Section 4.4.2). No hotspots will be generated if sample data is missing from these base positions.
3.	Change the Quality Limi	ts if required.
	Min. Alignment Score (0.00 - 1.00)	The minimum acceptable alignment score between the sample sequence and the gene configuration. The score is also used for finding the best fitting sequencer fragment. Note that samples containing mixed insertions/deletions may give rise to a poor score.
	Max No. of Single Base Deviations	The maximum number of single base

deviations (see Section 5.2) allowed for a
sample sequence when aligned to the
gene configuration.Max No. of GapDeviationsThe maximum number of explicit
insertion/deletion deviations (see Section
5.3) for a sample sequence when aligned
to the gene configuration.

- 4. By default, a quality summary is displayed after deviation calculation. **Uncheck the Show Quality Summary after...** option if you do not want the summary displayed.
- 5. Click on **OK** when you have selected the appropriate options.

4.3.2 Associating a sample sequence to a fragment

In some circumstances you may want to associate a sample sequence to a specific sequencer fragment for alignment. This means that the sample sequence will not be checked against other sequencer fragments during the analysis for a best alignment.

- 1. In the Samples field of the Analysis Item window, select a sample.
- 2. Select Analysis:Associate Fragment with Sample. The Associate Fragment with Sample dialogue is displayed.

Associate Fragment with Sample	_ 🗆 ×
Sample: exon 11	ОК
Any Fragment	Cancel
Any Fragment	
Fragment 2 Fragment 3	

Figure 4-11. Associate Fragment with Sample dialogue.

- 3. From the pull-down list, select the specific sequencer fragment contained within gene configuration with which the selected sample will be aligned in the analysis.
- 4. Click on **OK** and repeat for other samples.
- 5. Perform a deviation calculation (see Section 4.3.3).
- Note: An association can be made after the analysis has been performed. The sample corresponding to the selected deviation will be affected.

4.3.3 Calculating the deviations and quality summary

- 1. Select **Analysis:Calculate Deviations**. The samples included in the analysis item are automatically aligned against the gene configuration.
- 2. The **Quality Summary** dialogue is automatically displayed if you did not deselect this option in the **Deviation Calculation Options** dialogue (see Section 4.3.1).

	No.	Namia	SLength	Fragment	FLiength	Score	Single BD	Gispt
*	1	exon 18	167	Fregment1	148	0.97	4	0
*	2	exon 11	-439	Frequent2	359	1.08	1	0
*	3	exon 16	-61	Program 3	111	0.97	5	0
gnn	ent 1	dormation						
	ineri	is are fully co	vered by sam	ples.				
4 399								
i nag Isolig	nod	Fragments						
a nig Iseli Iseli	ined ily C	Fragments lovered Fite	gneets	-				

Figure 4-12. Quality Summary dialogue. This example shows the quality summary for the alignment of sample sequences corresponding to the Ret gene Exons 10, 11 and 16.

Sample Quality information is presented, including:

Name	The name of the sample.
SLength	The number of bases in the sample sequence.
Fragment	The name of the sequencer fragment in the gene configuration to which the sample sequence is aligned.
FLength	The number of bases in the gene configuration sequencer fragment.
Score	The actual alignment score between the sample sequence and the gene configuration. Higher values indicate better alignment.
Single BD	The actual number of single base deviations (see Section 5.2) in that sample when aligned to the sequencer fragment.
Gaps	The actual number of explicit insertion/deletion deviations in that sample (see Section 5.3) when aligned to the best fitting sequencer fragment.

By default, all items fulfilling the limit criteria are checked to **Keep** the sample in the analysis. If you do not want to keep a sample in the analysis, uncheck it and it will be removed from the analysis item. Items not fulfilling the limit criteria will be automatically removed from the analysis item unless you explicitly check them, e.g. for samples containing mixture insertion/deletion deviations displaying a poor alignment quality.

Alignment Information is also shown:

Unaligned Fragments	Colour-coded red, this displays the number of sequencer fragments that were not assigned a sample following the analysis.
Partially Aligned Fragments	Colour-coded yellow, this displays the number of sequencer fragments only partly aligned to a sample sequence.
Fully Aligned Fragments	Colour-coded green, this displays the number of sequencer fragments that were fully aligned with sample data.

3. Click on OK.

The results of the deviation calculation are displayed in several fields, including the **Deviations Table**, **Alignment** field, **Raw Data Curves** field and **Assignment** bar (see Sections 4.4 to 4.8).



Figure 4-13. Mutation Analyser workspace following an analysis of a Ret gene analysis item.

4.4 Deviations Table

Following analysis, the **Deviations Table** replaces the **Samples** field (see Section 4.2.1). The **Deviations Table** contains detected alignment deviations for each sample with respect to the gene configuration. For details about the different types of deviation encountered here, see Chapter 5.

Deviations Table				
Type / Name	Bp(Codon)	Deviation	User Assiqn	Comment 🔄
Fragment 1 / exon 10		Start Extra 15		
Fragment 1 / exon 10		Ambig G->K		
Fragment 1 / exon 1(1778(593)	Ambig G->R		
Fragment 1 / exon 1(1803(601)	Ambig G->R		
Fragment 1 / exon 1(1853(618)	Ambig G->S		
Fragment 1 / exon 10		End Extra 4		
Fragment 2 / exon 1*		Start Extra 67		
Fragment 2 / exon 1	1904(635)	Ambig G->R		
Fragment 2 / exon 1*		End Extra 13		
Fragment 3 / exon 16		Start Extra 295		
Fragment 3 / exon 16		Ambig G->R		
Fragment 3 / exon 16		Ambig G->R		
Fragment 3 / evon 16	2753(918)	Amhia T-> ⊻		_ _

Figure 4-14. Deviations Table in the Analysis Item window following analysis of Ret gene demo samples.

The information displayed in the table is dependent on the columns selected in the **Deviations Table Options** dialogue (see Section 4.4.1).

The width of each column can be adjusted by dragging the border of the column heads.

It is also possible to increase the display size of the **Deviations Table** by hiding the **Gene Configuration** field. Select **View:Hide Gene Configuration**.

4.4.1 Display options for the Deviations Table

The information displayed in the **Deviations Table** is dependent on the columns selected for viewing.

1. Select Options:Deviations Table Options. The Deviations Table Options dialogue is displayed.

Sort Order	04		
It by Position	C by Sample		04
Visible Columns			Cancel
X Status Colour	🗵 Bp(Codos)	I Deviation	
Type/Name	Exon Pos	C Status	Determine
	Region Pos	🗵 User Assign	Detault
	Sample Pos	Responsible	
	E P/A	F Comment	

Figure 4-15. Deviations Table Options dialogue.

- 2. Select whether the viewed deviations are sorted by Position or by Sample.
- 3. Select the **Visible Columns** in the table by checking the appropriate options:

Status Colour

This option displays a colour-coded status bar on the left side of each deviation in the list.

A grey bar indicates a deviation that is **Pending** assignment by the user, a red bar indicates an **Approved** deviation assignment, a black bar indicates an approved **Wild** type assignment, and a yellow bar indicates the user has assigned the particular deviation as **Ignored**.



Figure 4-16. Colour-coded status bars for each of the deviations.

Some deviations have a white status bar. These deviations are not subject to user assignment as defined in the **Interactive Assignment Options** dialogue (see Section 4.4.2). These can be hidden from the display by checking the **View Interactive Confirmation Rows Only** option (see step 4., below).

Type/Name

This option displays the fragment type as defined in the gene configuration and the name of the sample fragment.

Bp(Codon)

This option displays the base position and codon number (in parentheses) of the deviation. This information is only available if coding sequence information has been included in the gene configuration.

Exon Pos

This option displays the exon number and the base position within the exon of the deviation.

Region position

This option displays the region number and base position within the region for the deviation according to the definitions in the gene configuration.

Sample position

This option displays the sample number and base position of the deviation with respect to its position in the sample sequence.

P/A

A 'P' and/or an 'A' in this column indicates whether the deviation coincides with a point of interest and/or falls within an area of interest.

Deviation

This options displays information about the type of deviation.

Status

This option displays the user assignment status of the deviation, either **Pending**, an **Approved** user assignment, or **Ignored** (see Chapter 5). The **Status Colour** option also gives the same indication of status.

User Assign

This option displays specific details about the assignment made by the user.

Responsible

This option displays the name of the user last responsible for making an assignment for that deviation.

Comment

This option displays comments added during user assignment in the **Assignment** bar (see Section 4.7).

- 4. By default, all deviation positions are displayed. Some deviations are not subject to user assignment, as defined in the Interactive Assignment Options dialogue (see Section 4.4.2). Such deviations have a white status bar if the Status Colour option is selected. These can be hidden from the display by checking the View Interactive Confirmation Rows Only option.
- 5. Click on **Default** if you want to return to the original table display settings.
- 6. Click on **OK** to accept you options selection.

4.4.2 Displaying deviations for interactive assignment

The contents displayed in the **Deviations Table** can be further filtered to display only the types of deviation that are to be included for user assignment.

- 1. Click on **Options:Interactive Assignment Options** to display the **Interactive Assignment Options** dialogue. Check the deviation types to be included in the interactive assignment process.
- Note: If you selected to generate hotspots (see Section 4.3.1) from points of interest defined in the gene configuration (see Section 6.4.1), check the **Hotspot** deviation option. A hotspot deviation will be entered into the **Deviations Table** for all points of interest and must be user assigned as for single base deviations (see Section 5.2).

If you checked the View Interactive Confirmation Rows Only option in the Deviations Table Options dialogue (see Section 4.4.1), only those deviations selected for interactive assignment will be displayed in the Deviations Table.

teractive Confirma	tion Rows		01
Туре			<u>ur</u>
PointRep	X Mix Ins/Del	NoDev	-
🗵 Ambig	Start/End Missing	Stort/End Extra	Cancel
Insert/Delete	IX UserDev	T HotSpot	
Scope			Default
IX AII	Points of laterest	C Exons	
	C Areas of Interest		



- 2. Select the **Scope** of the deviations to be included in the interactive assignment process. You can select to include **All** deviations, or those deviations occurring at **Points of Interest**, within **Areas of Interest** and within **Exons**.
- 3. By default, the **Auto Increment** option is checked so that when a user has made an assignment for a deviation, Mutation Analyser automatically goes to the next deviation in the table. Deselect this option if you want to manually select the order of deviations for assignment.
- 4. Click on OK to return to the Analysis Item window. The Deviations Table will display the deviations based on criteria selected in the Interactive Assignment Options and Deviations Table Options (see Section 4.5.1) dialogues.

4.4.3 Viewing deviation information

It is possible to view extensive information about a deviation:

- 1. Select the deviation in the **Deviations Table**.
- 2. Select View:Deviation Information or Show Deviation Information from the right mouse button menu. The Deviation Information dialogue is displayed.

Beviation Information						
Type/Name:	Fragment 1 / exon 10	•				
Sequencing direction:	Anti-Sense					
Region:	1:41					
Position in Coding Seq:	1778					
Codon position:	593					
Codon:	GGA(Gly)→ GRA(_)					
Exon:	10:19					
Deviation:	Ambig G->R					
Status:	Pending					
User assignment:						
Responsible:						
Comment:		-				
	OK					

Figure 4-18. Deviation Information dialogue.

4.5 Alignment field

The **Alignment** field displays the sequence alignment data for the sample corresponding to the deviation selected in the **Deviations Table**. For details about the different types of deviation encountered here, see Chapter 5.

Sec dire	quencing ection < Alignment (5	Sar Reç i exo :	mp gioi	le r n n ⁄	10. 0.	: S: : R	am egi	ple on (po: pos	sitio itio	n n		Se dev	lect viati	ed ion									
	Sample (1:138) Region (1:31)	/	G G	G G	G G	C C	T T	A A	C C	G G	T T	C C	T T	K	С С	C C	C C	T T	C C	A A	G G	G G	G G	G
Ŀ	(G										Þ

Figure 4-19. Alignment field in the Analysis Item window.

4.5.1 Sequencing direction

The sequencing direction of the specific fragment is indicated by >> for the Sense direction and by << for the Anti-Sense direction. All sequence data is presented in the Sense direction.

4.5.2 Alignment deviations

Bases in the sample sequence are aligned with the corresponding bases in the gene configuration. Where there is an alignment deviation in the sample sequence with the gene configuration, the mismatched bases for the sample and gene configuration sequence are separated up and down respectively.

By default, the alignment deviation last selected in the **Deviations Table** is highlighted in the **Alignment** field. The sample number and sample position for the deviation is displayed together with the corresponding region number and region position in the gene configuration.

4.5.3 Viewing sample or alignment information

You can switch the view from the Alignment field and the Sample Information field by selecting View:Show Sample Information.

To return to the Alignment field, either select View:Show Alignment Information or select a deviation in the Deviations Table.

4.6 Raw Data Curves field

The **Raw Data Curves** field displays curve data for the currently selected sample. As for the alignment data in the **Alignment** field, all data is presented in the Sense direction.

There are four colour-coded curves, one for each of the four bases A,C,G,T. Each peak in a curve corresponds to a base detected for that position. A correspondingly coloured letter for the specific base is shown underneath a detected peak.

The displayed data is centred on the sample sequence base currently selected in the **Deviations Table**. The base corresponding to the selected base has a black box surrounding it.

A vertical cursor line can be moved in the field by holding down the left mouse button.



Figure 4-20. Raw Data Curves field in the Analysis Item window.

4.6.1 Changing the display window size

To view only the **Raw Data Curves** field, i.e. make the field bigger, select **View:Full Raw Data View** or **Full Raw Data View** from the right mouse button menu. To reverse the function, i.e. return the field to its normal size, select the checked menu option a second time.

Alternatively, make the **Raw Data Curves** field larger or smaller by dragging the right field border while holding down the left mouse button.

4.6.2 The zoom function

You can increase or decrease the magnification of the data within the field by using the Zoom function. For successive zoom in capability, repeatedly select **View:Zoom In** or **Zoom In** from the right mouse button menu, or use the <F7> key on the keyboard. Conversely, select **View:Zoom Out** or **Zoom Out** from the right mouse button menu, or use the <F8> key for successive reduction of the magnification.

It is also possible to view a fully zoomed out display of all the data by selecting **View:Full Zoom Out** or **Full Zoom Out** from the right mouse button menu. The full size of the of the **Raw Data Curves** field display is automatically shown, i.e. automatic selection of **Full Raw Data View**, and all raw data is shown with minimum magnification. The magnification can be increased using the standard zoom in function and the size of the field display returned to normal by deselecting the **Full Raw Data View** option. This on/off toggle function can be similarly achieved using the <F6> key on the keyboard.

4.6.3 Curve shift correction

By default, the **Options:Rawdata Shift Correction** function is active and enables the display of shifts in peak positioning applied by the sequencing software during the processing of the raw data. This allows you to more easily distinguish the order of the peaks as they occur in the sequence. Deselection of this function removes the automatic positioning and allows you to view the unaltered raw data directly. A check mark beside the menu option indicates that the function is active.

4.6.4 Curve amplitude scales

By default, the four curves are displayed on the same amplitude scale as the curve containing the largest peak. The peak heights of all the curves are then correctly proportioned with respect to one another.

Alternatively, it is possible to view the curves with separate amplitude scales so that the displayed amplitude scale for each curve is adjusted to best fit the window displayed. This may be useful in discerning the peaks in a curve which had a relatively low detection signal during sequencing.

Attention

The adjustments for individual scales are made *only for the peaks present in the current display* within the **Raw Data Curves** field. Changing the magnification of the view will alter the number of visible peaks and hence the information used to calculate the separate scales.

Selection of separate scales can be misleading when, for example, trying to establish if a peak is a true peak or part of the background noise.

Separate amplitude scales can be toggled on and off by selecting **Options:Separate Amplitude Scales**. A check mark beside the menu option indicates that the function is active.

4.6.5 Multiple raw data curve sets

If you have included reference fragments in your analysis item, either defined within the gene configuration (see Section 6.4.1) or as separately added samples (see Section 4.2.1), the curve data for these will be displayed together with the sample sequence curve data for the selected deviation.

Some alignment deviations will occur in the overlap regions between sequencing fragments. If you select such a deviation in the **Deviations Table**, two or more sets of raw data curves will be displayed in the **Raw Data Curves** field.

In all cases, the sample curve data for the selected deviation is identified by the blue box containing the sample name in white letters.





Viewing different sets of curve data

To select the types of curve data that you want to be displayed:

1. Click on View:Related Raw Data or select Related Raw Data from the right mouse button menu. The Related Raw Data dialogue is displayed.
| Related Raw Data | × |
|--|---|
| View | |
| All . | |
| C Reference | |
| C None | |
| C Selected Samples | |
| I Fragment I / exon 10 Z Fragment 2 / exon 11 S Fragment 3 / exon 15 | |
| | |
| J | - |

Figure 4-22. Related Raw Data dialogue.

2. Select the appropriate option. The **Raw Data Curves** field is automatically updated as you select an option.

All	This displays all sets of raw data curves corresponding to the selected deviation in the sample sequence, including reference fragments and overlapping fragments.
Reference	This displays the sample sequence for the selected deviation in addition to any reference fragments.
None	This displays only the sample sequence for the selected deviation.
Selected Samples	This displays only those curves checked in the custom list below <i>and</i> only if they correspond to the selected deviation in the sample sequence.

3. Close the dialogue when you no longer need it.

Alternatively, you can remove a set of curves from the display by double clicking on it with the left mouse button. The **Related Raw Data**

dialogue will be automatically displayed in which the Selected Samples option is active for the remaining sets of raw data curves. Select other options to see other sets of curves.

4.6.6 Separate scrollbars

By default, the Raw Data Curves field has only one horizontal scrollbar. This means that all data will be similarly affected with the scrollbar if multiple sets of data are displayed. By selecting Options: Separate Raw Data Scrollbars, each set of displayed data will obtain its own scrollbar.

4.7 Assignment bar

The Assignment bar (Single Base Assignment, Insertion Assignment, Deletion Assignment or Mixture Assignment) allows you to make a user assignment for each of the deviations.

Approve Ignose RAC V BP(Codon) Type Codos Comment	Single Base Assignment			h	-		
Approve Ignote CCTT Wed 19(7) Ambig GAC(Adg)-> RAC()	Transformer I America I	XAX	and a	Dp(Codon)	Туре	Codpe	Contrient
	Vebuoxe (Buote	FCFT	And a	19(7)	Anbig	GAC(Acc) → RAC(_)	

Figure 4-23. Assignment bar

X

Bp(191

Am

User assignment is presented in Chapter 5, although a brief description of the Assignment bar components is given here:

	The checked boxes cor the base components d the selected deviation. check any selection of components that you c should be assigned to t deviation.
Codon) (7)	This displays the base and codon number (in parentheses) of the sele deviation with respect coding information in configuration.
e	This displays the type of selected. See Chapter 5 information about the

respond to letected for You can base consider he

position betce to the the gene

of deviation for more different types of deviation.

Codon GAC(Asp) -> RAC()	This compares the codon and corresponding amino acid in the gene configuration (left) with the codon containing the selected deviation (left). In the latter case, the encoded amino acid is only shown if all bases in the codon are resolved.
Comment	This allows you to enter a comment about the selected deviation that will be displayed in the Deviations Table following user assignment.
Appro <u>v</u> e Igno <u>r</u> e Wil <u>d</u>	These buttons allow you to make an assignment for the selected deviation. Your can Approve an assignment, make an assignment to Ignore a deviation, or automatically convert the deviation back to the wild type and approve it by selecting Wild . The buttons shown are dependent on the type of Assignment bar.

4.8 Analysis overview

You can select to display an analysis overview, which shows the whole gene configuration together with sample fragments and detected deviations.

Select View:Analysis Overview. The Analysis Overview window is displayed, containing the following:

- The gene configuration is displayed for all of the regions together with the amino acid coding sequence. Other components of the gene configuration are displayed based on the selected overview options (see Section 4.8.4).
- Sample fragments are shown in their aligned position relative to the gene configuration. Deviations are marked on the sample fragments with a vertical cursor line passing through the currently selected deviation. Click on a deviation mark to select it within the window. A legend helps you to identify the types of deviation marks.



• Reference fragments will be displayed if included in the analysis item.

Figure 4-24. Analysis Overview window showing the analysis results based on the Ret gene configuration.

4.8.1 Using the zoom function within Overview mode

You can increase or decrease the magnification of the data in the window by using the Zoom function. For successive zoom in capability, repeatedly select **View:Zoom In** or **Zoom In** from the right mouse button menu, or use the <F7> key on the keyboard. Conversely, select **View:Zoom Out** or **Zoom Out** from the right mouse button menu, or use the <F8> key for successive reduction of the magnification.

The magnified area is centred on the selected deviation and the individual bases in the gene configuration sequence and individual amino acids for the coding sequence can be viewed.

Select **View:Full Zoom Out** to return to the lowest magnification to view the whole gene configuration.

Val т т	Giy	Gly	A	¢ ^{His} ,	c	Glu 🔥	e c c	T City o
· · ·		40	,	,		,	ś	,
Region: 1. Exes 10 region								
Exos 10								
ragments:								Frigmen
Samples:								
							_	61.87

Figure 4-25. Analysis Overview window with maximum magnification.

4.8.2 Selecting a deviation for evaluation

If you want to select a deviation in the **Analysis Overview** window for evaluation purposes:

- 1. Click on the deviation mark that you want to evaluate. The cursor line will now pass through the selected mark.
- 2. Keep the mouse cursor on the selected deviation and click on the right mouse button to display the associated menu.
- 3. Select **Analysis Window** from the menu options. The **Analysis Item** window is displayed and the deviation selected in the **Overview** window is active.

4.8.3 Adjusting sequencer fragments

You can adjust the extent of the sequencer fragments used for alignment against the sample sequences.

- 1. Click on the relevant sequencer fragment in the **Overview** window.
- 2. Select Edit:Adjust Fragment Extent to display the Adjust Fragment Extent dialogue.

Adjust Fragment	t Extent	
Fragment: Frag	jment 2	
Extent From 50	To 359	OK

Figure 4-26. Adjust Fragment Extent dialogue.

3. Enter the new extent of the sequencer fragment. Click on OK.

The previous analysis results are consequently removed and you must perform the analysis again to accommodate the changes you made to the sequencer fragment.

4.8.4 Changing the overview display options

The components displayed in the **Analysis Overview** window can be selected as follows:

1. Select **Options:Overview Options**. The **Overview Options** dialogue is displayed.

Figure 4-27. Overview Options dialogue box.

- 2. Select the components to be included in the **Analysis Overview** window.
- 3. Click on OK.

4.9 Adding comments about the analysis

Comments about the current analysis can be written in a separate window which are then saved together with the specific analysis item:

- 1. Select Edit:Comment Analysis. The Comments on Analysis window will be displayed.
- 2. Type in new text relevant to the current analysis or update the existing text if you have already saved this in an earlier session with the current analysis item.

😰 Comments on Analysis	
SAMPLE IDENTITY:	1
TISSUE TYPE:	
MATERIAL:	
METHOD:	
REMARKS:	
	÷

Figure 4-28. Comments on Analysis window.

- 3. Iconise or close the window while you are not using it. Maximise the icon to again view the window or select **Window:Comments on Analysis**.
- Note: You can change the default template to display text of your choice when the **Comments on Analysis** window is opened for the first time for each analysis item. Locate the file called **Template** in the directory where you have installed Mutation Analyser (e.g. in C:\Program files\Biotech\Mutation). Double click on the file to open it in Windows 95 NotePad. Modify the template text and save the changes.

4.10 Save settings for options

If you want to save the settings you selected for the various option dialogues, select **Options:Save Settings**. The saved settings are valid until the **Save Settings** command is used the next time for new settings. You can save the settings made for:

- Deviation Calculation Options
- Interactive Assignment Options

- Deviations Table Options
- Report Options
- Export Report Options

4.11 Finding a sequence

You can use the Find function to locate a specific sequence in the Sequencer Fragment or the currently selected sample.

- 1. Select a deviation in the **Deviations Table** and select **Edit:Find**. The **Find** dialogue is displayed.
- 2. Select the **Scope** of the find, either in the currently selected sample or in the corresponding sequencer fragment of the gene configuration.
- 3. Enter a search string, either by directly entering a sequence into the **Search String** field, or by loading a previously saved string by clicking on the **Load** button.

Any search string can be saved for future use by clicking on the **Save As** button and giving an appropriate name.

2. Define any other search criteria that you want:

Complement Find	Check this box if you want to search the complementary sequence using complementary bases to those in the Search String field.
Backward search	This looks for the search string beginning at the end of the sequence.

3. Click on **Find First** and if the string is present in the sequence, its first occurrence will be detected and the **Start Position** shown. The **Start Position** always shows the detected position within the configuration sequence with respect to the first base in the search string. Click on **Find Next** to locate the next occurrence of the string. The **Alignment** field and **Raw Data Curves** field are automatically centred on the beginning base of the located string.

Find	
Scope © Selected Sample © Selected	Fragment
Criteria Search String	d Save As Find First
Complement Find Start P Backward Search	osition 0 Find Next

Figure 4-29. Find dialogue

4. Click on **Exit** when the appropriate **Position** value is obtained.

4.12 Adjusting bases in the sequence

After an analysis you can edit or delete selected bases in the sample sequence or insert new bases.

Warning

This function should be used with careful consideration since no record is made of the base editing that you perform.

- 1. Select a deviation in the **Deviations Table** or a base position in the **Alignment** field.
- 2. Select Edit:Adjust Sample Sequence to display the Adjust Sample Sequence dialogue for the selected deviation or base position.

Adjust Sample Sequence																		
Sample Sequence												T						
Adjusted T G T T G G G G R A C A C G A G C C													С					
Original	ΤG	Т	Т	G	G	G	G	R	Α	С	Α	С	G	А	G	С	С	
Action Base Components																		
Insert Delete Replace																		
Original A G																		
							[1
<u>O</u> K <u>C</u> ancel																		
Insert Delete Replace Adjusted A G Original A G OK Cancel																		

Figure 4-30. Adjust Sample Sequence dialogue.

3. To replace the selected base, click on **Replace** to display the **Edit Sample Base** dialogue.



Figure 4-31. Edit Sample Base dialogue.

Check the appropriate base component(s) and click on **OK**. The **Adjusted** and **Original** base components are displayed in the **Adjust Sample Sequence** dialogue.

- 4. To delete the selected base, click on **Delete**.
- 5. To insert a base *before* the currently selected base, click on **Insert** to display the **Insert Sample Base** dialogue.

Insert Sample Base	
New Base	<u>0</u> K
Adjusted	C <u>a</u> ncel

Figure 4-32. Insert Sample Base dialogue.

Select the base component(s) to be inserted and click on **OK**. The base or appropriate ambiguity for more than one selected component is inserted.

6. Click on **OK** when you have adjusted the sample sequence.

4.13 Printing a report

You can print out a report of the whole run or for a specific deviation that you are evaluating.

4.13.1 Printing a report

1. Select **Options:Report Options**. The **Report Options** dialogue is displayed.

ontents: Sample Information Comments on Analysis Deviation Table Overview Graph © One Page Per Region	다 All Regions in One Page	OK Cancel
eviation Table Contents: Columns Available Columns Exan Pos Sample Pos P(A – – Aeriso Acid	Included Column (max. 5) Bp(Codon((Fiegion Pos Deviction (Comman) State User Assign Responsible	
Rows: F Include All C Approved Only Metactive Continuation Row	is Only Interactive Assignment	ent Options

Figure 4-33. Report Options dialogue box.

2. Select the components that you want to be included in the report by clicking in the box beside an option. These include:

Sample Information	Information about the samples that was previously entered using the sequencing software.
Comments on Analysis	Comments that you have entered into the Comments on Analysis dialogue
Deviations Table	Columns of the Deviations Table that you have specified in the list of options (see step 3).
Overview Graph	The Overview window for the current analysis. Select to print One Page per Region or All Regions in One Page .

- 3. Select the columns to be included in **Deviations Table** component of the report. Note that you can only have a maximum of 5 columns.
- 4. Select to **Include All** of the deviations or **Approved Only** deviation rows.

- Check the Report Interactive Confirmation Rows Only option if you want to include only those deviation types used for assignment. This list can be modified by clicking on the Interactive Assignment Options button and checking the appropriate deviations in the displayed dialogue.
- 6. Click on **OK**.
- 7. Select File:Print Report. You can select the printer setup options in the Print dialogue.

4.13.2 Printing a deviations report

The File:Print Deviations Report command prints out extensive information about the deviation selected in the Deviations Table. This includes the raw data curves graph, deviation information, codon information and alignment sequence data.

4.13.3 Printing a report to file

To print a report to a file in text (.txt) format:

- 1. Select **Options:Report Options**. The **Report Options** dialogue is displayed (see Section 4.12.1).
- 2. Select the components that you want to be included in the report. Click on **OK**.
- 3. Select File:Print to File, enter a name for your report file and click on Save. The file can be opened in most word processor applications.

4.14 Exporting reports and results

It is possible to export reports in simple text format to facilitate easy integration of information into other applications.

To export a report to a database:

- 1. Select **Options:Export to Database Options**. A dialogue is displayed.
- 2. Select the components that you want to include in the exported file. Click on **OK**.

OWX.		r	
Include All			OK.
Approved Only			
F Interactive Continuation Rows Only	Interactive Assignment	eet Options	Cancel
Columns:			
Assiytic Istoveston	Sample Information	Deviation Infor	watios .
X Analysis Item Name (1)	P Filesame (1)	P Coden intern	nation (K)
Configuration Description (2)	File Information (4)	Position Info	reation (K)
	K Close Information (3)	IX System Assi	(C) tearrag

Figure 4-34. Export to Database Options dialogue.

- 3. Select to **Include All** of the deviations or **Approved Only** deviations rows.
- 4. The **Report Interactive Confirmation Rows Only** option is checked to include only those deviation types used for assignment. This list can be modified by clicking on the **Interactive Assignment Options** button and checking the appropriate deviations in the displayed dialogue.
- 5. Check the relevant **Columns** options to be included.
- 6. Click on **OK**. Select **File:Export Result to Database**. Give the file a name and click on **Save** (see Appendix B).

4.15 Changing user

It is possible that several users will use Mutation Analyser during the day without the application being turned off. To keep a record of users within the current analysis item file and also in the report, it is recommended that each new user logs his/her user identification.

- 1. Select **Options:Change User** to display.
- 2. Enter your **User ID** in the **User Identification** dialogue or select it from the pull-down list if one of the last five names to be used.

lser ID	Continue
	×
Aaria	Egi

Figure 4-35. User Identification dialogue.

4.16 Exiting the application

To exit Mutation Analyser, select File:Exit.

5. Deviation analysis

In Chapter 4, it was explained how to create an analysis item and then perform an analysis. The key information and tools associated with the analysis were presented. This chapter introduces the various types of alignment deviations that you will encounter, and guides you on performing user assignments for the deviations.

Note: It is assumed that you have performed an analysis of your analysis item using the **Analysis:Calculate Deviations** command (<F9>) (see Section 4.3).

5.1 Types of alignment deviations

There are several types of deviation that you will encounter when using Mutation Analyser. These can be classified into four main groups:

- Single base deviations (see Section 5.2)
- Insertion/deletion deviations (see Section 5.3)
- Mixture insertion/deletion deviations (see Section 5.4)
- User defined deviations (see Section 5.5)

5.2 Single base deviations

This class includes all cases where Mutation Analyser has detected a difference in the sample sequence at a single base position compared to the aligned base in the gene configuration.

There are four types of single base deviation:

- Point replacement deviations
- Ambiguity deviations
- Sequence stop deviations
- Hotspot deviations

5.2.1 Point replacement deviations

This is where a base in the sample sequence is replaced with another resolved base that is different to the aligned base in the gene configuration. This is clearly seen in the **Alignment** field:



Figure 5-1. Alignment field with selected point replacement from A to G in a p53 gene sample sequence.

This is classified as a **PointRep** deviation in the **Deviations Table**:

D	Deviations Table				
	Type / Name	Bp(Codon)	Deviation	Status	User Assign 🔺
	Fragment 1 / 13C5	146(49)	Ambig A->V	Pending	
	Fragment 1 / 13C5	198(66)	SeqStop G->N	Pending	
	Fragment 3 / 13C7	639(213)	PointRep A->G	Pending	
	Fragment 3 / 13C7	742(248)	PointRep C->T	Pending	
	Fragment 3 / 13G5	1121(374)	Ambig G->B	Pending	
	Fragment 3 / 13G5	1136(379)	Ambig G->K	Pending	
					•
Ľ	•				•

Figure 5-2. Deviations Table with a point replacement deviation selected in a *p53 gene sample.*

A point replacement is indicative of either a polymorphism or a mutation (see Beaudet and Tsui, 1993 [1]), although Mutation Analyser does not make this differentiation. User knowledge about the specific gene should allow you to identify a polymorphism vis-à-vis mutation. As an additional tool in this identification, you can for example define polymorphic positions as points of interest in the gene configuration (see Section 6.4.1).

Mutation Analyser can, however, display the effects of a point replacement on the codon and the encoded amino acid. In some cases the point replacement produces a codon that changes the encoded amino acid, while in other instances there is no change. This information can be viewed in the **Assignment** bar.

Same amino acid



Different amino acid

Bp(Codon)	Туре	Codon
742 (248)	PointRep	CGG(Arg) -> TGG(Trp)

Figure 5-3. The effect of a point replacement on the encoded amino acid can be seen in the Assignment bar. No change from Arg to Arg (above) and a change from Arg to Trp (below) as detected in p53 gene samples.

5.2.2 Ambiguity deviations

This is where there is a replacement of a base in the sample sequence with an ambiguity code. An ambiguity code is awarded where the specific base was unresolved during the sequencing process due to there being more than one base component detected at the same position. An ambiguity code is unique for the specific combination of bases detected (see Table 5-1).

Ambiguity code	Unresolved components
М	AC
R	AG
W	AT
S	CG
Y	СТ
K	GT
V	ACG
Н	ACT
D	AGT
В	CGT
Ν	ACGT

Table 5-1. Ambiguity codes for all combinations of unresolved components.

An ambiguity deviation is clearly seen in the Alignment field:



Figure 5-4. Alignment field with an ambiguity deviation selected in a Ret gene sample sequence.

Mutation Analyser classifies these as **Ambig** deviations in the **Deviations Table**.

Deviations Table				
Type / Name	Bp(Codon)	Deviation	User Assign	Comment 🔺
Fragment 1 / exon 1(Ambig G->K		
Fragment 1 / exon 1(1778(593)	Ambig G->R		
Fragment 1 / exon 1(1803(601)	Ambig G->R		
Fragment 1 / exon 1(1853(618)	Ambig G->S		
Fragment 2 / exon 1*	1901(634)	Ambig G->R		
Fragment 3 / exon 16		Ambig G->R		
Fragment 3 / exon 16		Ambig G->R		
Fragment 3 / exon 16	2159(720)	Ambig T->Y		
Fragment 3 / exon 16	2190(730)	Ambig C->S		
Fragment 3 / exon 16	2191(731)	Ambig A->R		
				_
				▶

Figure 5-5. Deviations Table with an ambiguity deviation selected in a Ret gene sample.

Ambiguities are indicative of a mixed cell population and/or a heterogeneous cell sample. A given sample possibly contains cells from normal tissue and cells from tumour tissue, or that that there are polymorphic differences between alleles, i.e. heterozygous.



As discussed for point replacements (see Section 5.2.1), Mutation Analyser does not differentiate between a polymorphism and a mutation. Moreover, in the case of ambiguities, no information can be given about the encoded amino acid since the specific base is unresolved. The bases constituting the specific ambiguity code are readily seen in the **Assignment** bar by viewing the checked options.



Figure 5-6. The encoded amino acid cannot be determined in the Assignment bar from an ambiguity.

5.2.3 Sequence stop deviations

A sequence stop is designated the ambiguity code 'N' and means that all four bases were detected at the same position in the sequencer fragment (see Table 5-1).



Figure 5-7. Raw Data Curves field showing four bases at the same position.

Sequence stops are indicative of problem regions in the template causing the sequencing enzyme to fall off without incorporating the correct ddNTP terminator, hence creating signals in all four base channels. Sequence stops are classified as **SeqStop** deviations in the **Deviations Table** and counts as an ambiguity deviation for purposes of user assignment.

5.2.4 Hotspot deviations

If you defined points of interest in the gene configuration (see Section 6.4.1), whether for positions known to be polymorphic or prone to mutation, these can be used to generate **Hotspot** deviations that are shown in the **Deviations Table**.

For example:

- 1. Create an analysis item (see Section 4.2.1) based on the RETdemo gene configuration (see Section 6.13.1).
- 2. To generate hotspots, check the Generate Hotspots from Points of Interest option in the Deviation Calculation Options dialogue prior to analysis (see Section 4.3.1).
- 3. Include the hotspot deviations in the user assignment by checking the **Hotspot** deviation type in the **Interactive Assignment Options** dialogue (see Section 4.4.2).
- 4. Perform an analysis, **Analysis:Calculate deviations** or <F9>. The detected hotspot deviations, including deviation type, are displayed in the **Deviations Table**.

Type / Name	Bp(Codon)	Deviation	User Assign	Comment	11
Fragment 1 / exon 10		Start Extra 15			
Fragment 1 / exon 10	(Ambig G->K			
Fragment 1 / exon 10	1778(593)	Ambig G->R			
Fragment 1 / exon 1	1803(601)	Ambig G->R			
Fregment1 / exon 10	1825(609)	HotSpot Wild			
Fregment 1 / exon 1 i	1831(611)	HotSpot Wild			
Fragment 1 / exon 10	1832(511)	HotSpot Wild			
Fregment 1 / exon 10	1833(611)	HotSpot Wild			
Fragment 1 / exon 1/	1853(618)	Ambig G-2S			
fregment 1 / exon 10	1053(810)	HotSpot G->S			
Fregment 1 / exon 1	1859(620)	HotSpot Wild			
Fregment 1 / exon 1	(End Extra 4			
Ensembler 2.1 avenue 11	(Start Extra 87			

Figure 5-8. Deviations Table containing Hotspot deviations for an analysis item based on the RETdemo gene configuration.

5.2.5 User assignment of single base deviations

A single base deviation selected in the **Deviations Table**, including point replacements (**PointRep**), ambiguities (**Ambig**), sequence stops (**SeqStop**), and hotspots (**Hotspot**) will be represented in the **Single Base Assignment** bar.

- 1. View the selected deviation in the **Raw Data Curves** field. This will help you to evaluate the validity of the assignment made by the alignment calculation algorithm.
- 2. In the **Single Base Assignment** bar, select the base(s) that you consider should be assigned to the specific deviation. By default, the base(s) corresponding to the selected deviation is selected, as denoted by the checked box(es).
- 3. Type in any comments into the **Comments** box in the **Single Base Assignment** bar.
- 4. Make the appropriate assignment based on the following criteria:

Wil <u>d</u>	Use this button if you want to automatically assign the deviation back to the wild type, i.e. the same as in the gene configuration. This option also automatically <i>approves</i> the wild type assignment (see Approve button description next).
Approve	Use this button if you want to approve the assignment proposed by Mutation Analyser or an assignment of your own choice.
lgno <u>r</u> e	Use this button if you want to ignore the selected deviation or you are unable to make a determination about the deviation depending on your evaluation strategy.

Note: This should be used with caution.

6. Your user assignment now automatically updates the information contained in the **Deviations Table** (see Section 4.4.1 for details of the various columns in the **Deviations Table**). The updated information includes:

ΠA	x 🖸
ПC	

Status Colour	The bar changes from grey (Pending) to either red (Approved as deviation), black (approved Wild type), or yellow (Ignored).
Status	The status of a particular deviation is displayed, either Wild, Approved or Ignored.
User Assign	The user assigned base/ambiguity is displayed.
Responsible	This displays the user ID of the person whom made the assignment for this particular deviation (see Section 4.12).
Comments	Comments that you added during assignment will be displayed.

- 7. By default, the next deviation in the **Deviations Table** is automatically selected for assignment. This function can be turned off by selecting **Options:Interactive Assignment Options** and unchecking the **Auto Increment Deviation List** option.
- 8. To undo an assignment, i.e. return to **Pending** status, select the deviation in the **Deviations Table** and then **Edit:Undo Interactive Assignment**. All user assignment information including any comment will be removed. Alternatively, if you want to change the assignment, e.g. from **Approved** to **Wild**, select the deviation and make a new assignment.

5.2.6 Approving multiple deviations

If the analysis item contains a deviation at the same position in overlapping sample sequences, you can make a general user assignment for all such deviations.

- 1. Select Edit:Multiple Sample Approval. The function is active when this menu command is checked.
- 2. When you select a deviation for which there is a deviation in the same position in overlapping sample sequences, all will be grouped together in the **Deviations Table**, and naturally in the **Raw Data Curves** field.

Type / Name	Bp(Codor)	Deviation	User Assign	Comment
Fregment1 / exon	10	StartExtra 15		
Fregment1 / exon	1Ú	Start Extra 15		
Fragment1 / exon	11	Ambig G->K		
Fregment1 / exon	H.	Ambig G-9K		
Fregment1 / exon	1(1778(583)	Ambig G->R		
Fregment1 / exon	1(1778(593)	Anibig GoR		
Fregment1 / exon	1(1003(601)	Ambig G->R		
Fregment1 / exon	1(1803(601)	Anbig GoR		
Fregment1 / exon	1(1053(518)	Anibig G->S		
Fregment1 / exon	1(1853(618)	Ambig G->S		
Fregment1 / exon	10	End Extra. 4		
Fragment1 / exon	10	End Extra 4		
Frenmant? Jame	E	Star Evita 57		

Figure 5-9. Deviations Table showing a selected deviation in a Ret gene sample. A deviation at the same base position in an overlapping sample is grouped underneath the selected deviation and is highlighted in as a grey row.

3. Follow the user assignment instructions detailed in Section 5.2.5. The only difference is that the Approve button is replaced with Approve AII, which means that the same assignment is made for the deviation group in all overlapping samples. Similarly, selecting Wild applies to the deviation group. However, if you assign Ignore, this is only valid for the selected deviation and other instances of the deviation must be user assigned separately.

5.3 Insertion/deletion assignments

Explicit base insertions or deletions in the sample sequence can be detected in a homogenous and homozygous cell sample. This can be clearly seen in the **Alignment** field.



Figure 5-10. The appearance a single base deletion (above) or insertion (below) for a p53 gene sample sequence in the Alignment field.

Mutation Analyser classifies these deviations as **Insert** and **Delete** in the **Deviations** column of the **Deviations Table**, together with the number of inserted or deleted bases for adjacent insertion or deletion positions.

Type / Name	Bp(Codon)	Deviation	Status	User Assign
Fragment 3 / 13C7	539(213)	Ambig A-2B	Pending	
Fragment 3 / 14H3, 3	717(239)	Delete 1	Pending	
Fragment 3 / 14H3, 5	732(244)	Ambig CoS	Pending	
Fragment 3 / 13C7	742(248)	Ambig C-9Y	Pending	
Fragment 3 / 14H3, 5	792(264)	Ambig A-2B	Pending	
Fragment 3 / 14H3, 5	793(265)	Ambig CoS	Pending	
Fragment 3 / 14H3, 5	794(265)	Ambig T-3K	Pending	
Fragment 3 / 14H3. S	795(265)	Ambig G->R	Pending	
Fragment 3 / 14H3. 5	796(266)	Ambig G-≯S	Pending	
Fragment 3 / 14H3. 5	798(266)	Ambig A-3R	Pending	
Fragment 3 / 14H3, 2 3	799(267)	Ambig C-M	Pending	

Figure 5-11. Deviations Table with an explicit deletion deviation selected in a p53 gene sample. In this case, it is a single base deletion as denoted by 'Delete 1'.

Selection of an insertion or deletion will display the relevant information in the **Insertion Assignment** and **Deletion Assignment** bars respectively.

Deletion Ass	ignment		DetCaster	Rine	Converted.
Approve	Ignore	wild	897 (299)	1	Conterr

Figure 5-12. Deletion Assignment bar for a deletion deviation of size one base, as denoted by the number '1'.

5.3.1 User assignment of insertion/deletion deviations

An insertion or deletion deviation selected in the **Deviations Table**, is user assigned in the **Insertion Assignment** bar and **Deletion Assignment** bar.

1. View the selected deviation in the **Raw Data Curves** field. This will help you to evaluate the validity of the assignment made by the alignment calculation algorithm.

If you want to change the specified size of the insertion or deletion, enter the new value into the Size box in the **Assignment** bar. Note that details can be given in the Comments box as to the identity of the bases involved in the insertion or deletion resulting from the change in size.

- 2. Type in any comments into the **Comments** box in the **Single Base Assignment** bar.
- 3. Make the appropriate assignment based on the following criteria:



6. Your user assignment now automatically updates the information contained in the **Deviations Table** (see Section 4.4.1 for details of the various columns in the **Deviations Table**). The updated information includes:

Status Colour	The bar changes from grey (Pending) to either red (Approved), black (approved Wild type) or yellow (Ignored).
Status	The status of a particular deviation is displayed, either Wild, Approved or Ignored.
User Assign	The nature and size of the user assignment is displayed.
Responsible	This displays the user ID of the person whom made the assignment for this particular deviation (see Section 4.12).
Comments	Comments that you added during assignment will be displayed.

- 7. By default, the next deviation in the **Deviations Table** is automatically selected for assignment. This function can be turned off by selecting **Options:Interactive Assignment Options** and unchecking the **Auto Increment Deviation List** option.
- 8. To undo an assignment, i.e. return to **Pending** status, select the deviation in the **Deviations Table** and then **Edit:Undo Interactive Assignment**. Alternatively, if you want to change the assignment, e.g. from **Approved** to **Wild**, select the deviation and make a new assignment.

5.4 Mixture insertion/deletion deviation assignments

Mutation Analyser has an advanced **Mixture Analysis** function that can detect insertion/deletion deviations in sequence data derived from samples containing mixed cell populations or cells that are heterozygous.

- 1. When a tissue sample is prepared, it possibly contains a heterogeneous population of cells including the normal cells and tumour cells. The normal cells may originate from the surrounding healthy tissue or come from a tumour specimen that contains both cell types.
- 2. Two types of sequencing fragment will be produced, namely a wild type gene fragment and a mutant gene fragment. If the mutant gene has an insertion or deletion, this means that the resulting sequencer fragment will be longer or shorter respectively, than the corresponding wild type fragment.



Figure 5-13. An example wild type fragment sequence and the corresponding sequence in a mutated sample fragment containing a 3 base deletion.

3. When sequencing is performed, detection of bases from the mutated gene fragment and wild type fragment will be similar, up until the point where the insertion or deletion occurs. After this point, more than one base will be detected at each position.



Figure 5-14. Amplification of a mixed PCR fragment population derived from wild type and deletion mutated gene sequences.

- Note: It is possible, of course, for deviations to occur upstream of the detected mixture deviation and these should be evaluated independently of the mixture analysis.
- 4. The base calling algorithm will detect the two bases at the same position in the sample sequence and ambiguity codes will be assigned to the positions of non-alignment. This region containing many such ambiguity codes is representative of a mixture insertion/deletion deviation.

	ACGTTTGACTA	GATAGGTATAGTTA AGGTATAGTTA	Wild type sequence Mutated sequence
	ACGTTTGACTA	RRKWRKWRTWR	Superimposed sequence
:	Sequencing primer area	Region of superimposed sequence	

Figure 5-15. A superimposed sequence resulting from a mixture of wild type and deletion mutated gene sequences

5.4.1 Recognising mixture insertion/deletion deviations

There are several tell-tale signs that you should look for to recognise a mixture insertion or deletion deviation:

• Examine the **Deviations Table** for a long list of adjacent ambiguity deviations (**Ambig**) in a single fragment.

Deviations				
Type / Name	Bp(Codon)	Deviation	User Assiqn	Comment 🔺
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	715(239)	Ambig A->W		
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	/ 717(239)	Delete 1		_
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	732(244)	Ambig C->S		
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3 /	792(264)	Ambig A->R		
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3 /	793(265)	Ambig C->S		
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	794(265)	Ambig T->K		
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	795(265)	Ambig G->R		
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	796(266)	Ambig G->S		
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3 \	798(266)	Ambig A->R		
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	799(267)	Ambig C->M /		
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	800(267)	Ambig G->R /		
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	801(267)	Ambig G->S/		•
•				

Figure 5-16. Deviations Table containing many adjacent ambiguity deviations in a p53 gene sample.

• Read the sequence data in the **Alignment** field in the same direction as the sequencing direction, i.e. from *left* to *right* for Sense (>>) or from *right* to *left* for AntiSense (<<). You may see a pattern whereby the upstream region of the sequence shows good alignment and is followed by repeating groups of adjacent point ambiguities.



Figure 5-17. Alignment field showing a p53 gene fragment sequenced in the Sense (>>) direction. Reading from left to right, an area of good alignment precedes an area of adjacent ambiguity deviations.

• Look at the data in the Analysis Overview window by selecting View:Analysis Overview (see Section 4.8). You should be able to see that the upstream region of the sample fragment displays relatively few deviations followed by a downstream region that is densely packed with ambiguity deviations.



Figure 5-18. Portion of the Analysis Overview window showing the alignment between a p53 gene configuration sequencer fragment and a sample fragment suspected of containing a mixture insertion/deletion. Note that the fragment contains an upstream area with good alignment followed by a downstream area that is densely packed with ambiguity deviations.

5.4.2 Performing a mixture analysis

If you suspect that one or more of the samples contain a mixture insertion or deletion, it is possible to confirm this by performing a mixture analysis.

1. Select Analysis:Mixture Analysis. The Mixture Analysis dialogue is displayed.

Mi	xture Ana	lysis	
Options	inty		OK
Shift range:	-10 to	10	Cancel
Advanced	_		
Probability Limit:	0.01	%	
Required Valley:	5		
Max Probe Length:	50		

Figure 5-19. Mixture Analysis dialogue.

2. Select the Shift range for the analysis.

This will set the limits for the number of alignment shift positions to be tested. The default range of -10 to 10 means that the 10 alignment positions, both to the left and right of the currently displayed alignment respectively, will be analysed. This, in turn, means that tentative insertions/deletions of 10 bases or less are looked for. Each sample sequence will be shifted one step at a time away from its original position with respect to the gene configuration. The alignment between sample sequence and gene configuration is then statistically tested before shifting another step. The number of stepwise shifts is equal to the range limit, both to the left and right of the currently viewed alignment position.

- 3. If you want to analyse only the selected sequence sample, i.e. the sample containing the deviation selected in the **Deviations Table**, check the **Selected Sample Only** option. By default, this function is not selected so that all sample sequences in the analysis item will be included in the analysis.
- Click on OK. The analysis will now be performed and if a significant result is obtained, these will be shown in the Deviations Table. This will be displayed as a new class of deviation, namely MixInsDel.

Type / Name	Bp(Codori)	Deviation	User Assign	Comment	
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	715(238)	Ambig A->W			
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	717(239)	Delete 1			
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	732(244)	Ambig C-xS			
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	791 (264)	MidtsDel 3			
PCR 3/14H3.3	792(264)	Ambig A->R			
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	793(265)	Ambig C-XS			
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	794(265)	Ambig T-xK			
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	795(265)	Ambig G->R			
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	796(266)	Ambig G-FS			
PCR 3714H3, 3	798(266)	Amblig AvR			
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	799(267)	Ambig C-9M			
PCR 3 / 14H3, 3	808(267)	Ambig G->R			



The size of the mixture insertion/deletion deviation shown in the **Deviation** column of the **Deviations Table** represents the number of places that the sample deviation was shifted in the mixture analysis to give the statistically best alignment with the gene configuration.

A positive value indicates that the sample sequence is shifted to the right of its current position and, conversely, a negative value indicates that the sample sequence is shifted to the left of its current position. The example shown in Figure 5.18, **MixInsDel 3**, indicates a shift of the sample sequence 3 places to the right of its original position to give the statistically best alignment with the gene configuration in the affected area.

This result can be analysed in the Alignment field.

5.4.3 Using the alignment field to evaluate mixture analysis results

A colour-coded representation of the mixture analysis results are displayed in the **Alignment** field.





Important information in the Alignment field includes:

Sequencing direction

The mixture analysis is always performed in the sequencing direction, which is displayed either as >> for the Sense direction, or << for the Anti-Sense direction. The example shown in Figure 5-19 displays a sample fragment sequenced in the Sense direction.

Start position of deviation	This is the <i>estimated</i> position where the mixture insertion/deletion occurs.
Blue squares	The blue squares indicate those bases that were used in the mixture analysis to give a statistically meaningful result. The analysis uses the minimum possible number of bases in order to achieve this result.
Green squares	The green squares indicate those bases in the sample sequence which are in agreement with the bases in the gene configuration resulting from the shift. The value of the shift is displayed in the Deviation column of the Deviations table . A <i>positive</i> value indicates an equivalent shift of the sample sequence to the right of its currently displayed alignment. A <i>negative</i> value indicates an equivalent shift of the sample sequence to the left of its currently displayed alignment.
Red squares	The red squares indicate those bases in the sample sequence which are not in agreement with the bases in the gene configuration resulting from the shift.

Alignment area upstream of the deviation

As described earlier, the upstream area of the sample sequence shows good alignment to the gene configuration and the alignment only becomes poor in the downstream area affected by the mixture insertion/deletion. As a result of the mixture analysis, the upstream area will almost entirely display red squares. This is because the applied shift to this upstream area results in a non-compatible alignment between the sample sequence and gene configuration. Any green squares displayed in the upstream area as a result of the shift, are random events.

Alignment region downstream of the deviation

Contrary to the upstream area, the downstream area should after mixture analysis, display a dramatic improvement in the alignment between the sample sequence and gene configuration as a result of the shift. This should be evident by the majority of green squares. Any red squares indicate a disagreement between the sample sequence and gene configuration sequence as a result of the shift. Assuming the mixture insertion/deletion deviation is valid, red squares can occur for two reasons:

- there is a single base deviation at the position marked by the red square, hence the non-alignment after the shift
- there are two components occurring at the same position in the sample sequence but the base calling algorithm of the sequencing software was only able to detect one component that is not compatible with the base in the gene configuration.

It is possible to check if there is a single base deviation in the sample sequence or if there are two components of which only one of them was detected:

is non-compatible with the gene configuration base as a result of a shift 3 places to th right									e a the				
Alignment >>							/						
	R		W	К	Υ		W	K		W		S	К
Sample (1:194)		С				Т			G		G		
Region (1:808)		С				Т		(G)	G		
	Α		А	G	С		Т	Т	\sim	Α		G	Т
+													→

1. Click on the red base of interest in the Alignment field.

Figure 5-22. A base in the sample sequence which shows nonagreement with the gene configuration as a result of a 3 base shift to the right.

2. If there are two bases in the sample sequence and one of these was not detected by the base calling algorithm, you would expect to be able to see both bases in the **Raw Data Curves** field. Indeed, the selected deviation is automatically selected in the **Raw Data Curves** field and an indication of the **Expected** bases is given, i.e. the two bases that are expected to be present in the sample sequence if there is to be an agreement as a result of the shift.

In the example shown in Figures 5-20 and 5-21, the red base in the sample sequence is a T and the base in the gene configuration three bases to the right is a **G**. Thus, for there to be an agreement as a result of the shift, the sample sequence is expected to contain a T and G base at the same position.

3. Magnify the view for the raw data (View:Zoom In or <F7>) and determine if both of the expected bases are present. If both bases are present, as in Figure 5-21, this implies that the base calling algorithm had, in this case, failed to detect a weak signal for the base **G**.

If both bases are not present in the sample sequence, for example only the base **T** was present, then this suggests a single base deviation in the sample sequence.



Figure 5-23. Raw Data Curves field showing the expected and actual component bases in the raw data

5.4.4 User assignment of mixture insertion/deletion deviations

Having performed a mixture analysis, use the information in the **Mixture Assignment** bar to automatically calculate if there has been a base insertion or deletion in the mutated sequence. You can then make the appropriate user assignment.

Mixture Assi	gament					lett.		Normal States
Approve	Ignoje	C No gep	Crept.	791 (264)	MidwDel	0	0.000001%	Gampen

Figure 5-24. Mixture Assignment bar

The various information contained in the **Mixture Assignment** bar includes:

~Bp(Codon)	<i>Estimated</i> position of the start of the deviation and codon number (in parentheses.
Туре	The type of mixture deviation. By default, MixInsDel is displayed until you direct the program to calculate whether the deletion is a mixture insertion (MixIns) or a mixture deletion (MixDel) (see below).
Size	The size of the potential mutation.
False rate %	This is an <i>estimate</i> of the statistical probability that the program assignment, following the results of the mixture analysis, is false, i.e. the lower the figure presented here, the higher the probability that the program assignment based on the calculated shift is true.

The **Undefined** option is automatically selected until you calculate the type of mixture insertion/deletion deviation:

1. Click on the **No Gap** button if there was no explicit insertion or deletion directly adjacent and upstream of the detected deviation position. This will be true for most of the instances when you perform a mixture analysis.

The result, insertion (**MixIns**) or deletion (**MixDel**), will be automatically displayed in the **Type** field. The size of the insertion or deletion is equivalent to the shift value indicated. For details on the process behind the calculation, see Section 5.4.6.

- Note: You should not become confused by the sign of the **Size** value. Only the magnitude of the value is relevant here. The sign of the number is used in the alignment calculation (see Section 5.4.6).
- 2. Add any appropriate comments.
3. To approve the assignment, click on the **Approve** button. A dialogue box will be displayed asking if you want to ignore all subsequent deviations *downstream* of the **MixIns** or **MixDel** deviation. Click on **Yes** if you want to ignore deviations in the list downstream from the mixture insertion/deletion deviation. Click on **No** if you want to manually evaluate every deviation.

Your user assignment now automatically updates the information contained in the **Deviations Table** (see Section 4.4.1 for details of the various columns in the **Deviations Table**). The updated information includes:

Status Colour	The bar changes from grey (Pending) to either red (Approved), black (approved Wild type) or yellow (Ignored).
Status	The status of a particular deviation is displayed, either Approved , Wild or Ignored .
User Assign	The nature and size of the user assignment is displayed.
Responsible	This displays the user ID of the person whom made the assignment for this particular deviation (see Section 4.12).
Comments	Comments that you added during assignment will be displayed.

- 4. By default, the next deviation in the **Deviations Table** is automatically selected for assignment. If you ignored all other deviations downstream of the mixture insertion/deletion deviation (see Step 3.) the next deviation not associated with this assignment is selected. This function can be turned off by selecting **Options:Interactive Assignment Options** and unchecking the **Auto Increment Deviation List** option.
- 5. To undo an assignment, i.e. return to **Pending** status, select the deviation in the **Deviations Table** and then **Edit:Undo Interactive Assignment**.

Explicit gaps and mixture analysis

In some circumstances, the mutated sequence may predominate over the wild type sequence in a mixed population. In the deviations calculation, the mutated sequence will likely find the greatest degree of alignment with the gene configuration sequence. If the mutated gene sequence contains a deletion or insertion, this will be displayed as explicit insertion(s) or deletion(s) respectively. These can normally be evaluated without the need for a mixture analysis. In some cases, however, there may be sufficient interference from the wild type sequence in the region downstream of the explicit insertion or deletion, that you wish to perform a mixture analysis. This is performed in exactly the same way as described in Sections 5.4.2 to 5.4.4, except that the **Gap** radio button is chosen in the **Mixture Assignment** bar for automatic calculation of the type of mixed deviation. The results of the calculation are displayed accordingly.

5.4.5 Advanced options for mixture insertion/deletion deviation assignments

There are several parameters that may be altered to adjust the sensitivity of the mixture analysis.

Select Analysis:Mixture analysis to display the Mixture Analysis dialogue.

Mi	dure Analysis	
Options T Selected sample o	nty	
Shift range:	-10 to 10	Cancel
Advanced		
Probability Limit:	0.01	6
Required Valley:	5	
Max Probe Length:	50	

Figure 5-25. Mixture Analysis dialogue.

The parameters that you can alter are the **Probability Limit**, **Required Valley** and **Max Probe Length**.

Probability limit

The **Probability Limit** value sets the inclusion threshold for calculated alignment probabilities in the mixture analysis results. Values less than the set probability limit indicate that a statistically significant alignment was obtained between sample sequence and master sequence for the currently tested shift position. All shifts fulfilling the probability limit criterion will be presented. By default, the probability limit is set to 0.01%.

Required valley

During mixture analysis the alignment algorithm assigns a cumulative score, unique for each shift, as the alignment proceeds in the sequencing direction. The awarded score is based upon the type of association between the base in a sample sequence and the corresponding base in the gene configuration:

Event	Score
Matching base	+1
Shift criterion fulfilled	-1

During a mixture analysis, the algorithm uses a drop in the value of the cumulative score to detect the mixture insertion/deletion deviation. The **Required Valley** value is the number of cumulative points that must be lost in order for it to be treated as a deviation. By default, this value is set to 5.

Graph

In an ideal situation, the cumulative score produces a very characteristic curve. This can be viewed by clicking on the **Graph** button in the **Mixture Assignment** bar following mixture analysis of a sample.



Figure 5-26. Mixture Graph panel showing the cumulative score of an alignment following mixture analysis. This example comes from a sample sequenced in the Sense direction.

The peak line represents the start of the mixture insertion/deletion deviation. A peak can only be identified as a mixture insertion/deletion deviation if it is followed by a continuous reduction in cumulative score equal to or greater than the **Required Valley** value in the **Mixture Analysis** dialogue. The distance between the peak line and statistics line represents the number of bases used to obtain the statistical result.

It is not always possible for the automated mixture analysis to detect a mixture insertion/deletion deviation since the **Required Valley** value is too high. This is particularly true in a mixed sequence sample where the wild type sequence predominates, with only occasional superposition of the mutated sequence for a small number of bases. To detect such cases, the **Required Valley** value should be lowered and the mixture analysis repeated. The **Mixture Graph** can appear as a set of incremental steps or contain any number of small peaks and valleys.



Figure 5-27. Mixture Graph panel showing the cumulative score of an alignment following a mixture analysis where the Required Valley value needed to be lowered from 5 to 1 in order to detect the mixture insertion/deletion deviation (sample sequenced in the Sense direction).

Max Probe Length

The Max Probe Length value is the maximum number of bases used in the mixture analysis for the statistical calculation. These bases are represented by the blue squares in the Alignment field. If there is a good alignment, fewer bases will have been used to obtain the result and consequently less blue squares will be seen. In other cases, the alignment may not be so perfect and, hence, more bases are needed in the analysis to obtain statistically meaningful results. By default, the Maximum Probe Length value is 50.

5.4.6 Understanding mixture assignments

In Sections 5.4.2 to 5.4.4, you were shown how to automatically calculate the specific type of mixture deviation, either an insertion or deletion. In most cases, mixture analysis is performed on samples containing a stronger wild type sequence signal and thus with no explicit deletion adjacent to the area suspected of containing a mixture insertion/deletion. The process behind the mixture analysis is described.

Insertion or deletion

The information contained in the **Deviations Table** and **Alignment** fields, together with the raw data curves, allow you to manually differentiate between a mixture insertion or deletion deviation. The same principles are applied when you select **No Gap** in the **Mixture Assignment** bar (see Section 5.4.4) to obtain the same result.

• If the deviation occurs within a sample with a *Sense* sequencing direction, a *positive* size value indicates a *deletion* of length equal to the size value. This can be explained in that a statistically meaningful alignment is obtained in the affected sequence area if the sample sequence is shifted to the *right* of its original position, i.e. *downstream* in the sequencing direction. This leaves a gap in the sample sequence that corresponds to a deletion.



Figure 5-28. Example of a sample with a Sense sequencing direction containing a mixture deletion deviation of 3 bases.

• If the deviation occurs within a sample with a *Sense* sequencing direction, a *negative* size value indicates an *insertion* of length equal to the size value. This can be explained in that a statistically meaningful alignment is obtained in the affected sequence area if the sample sequence is shifted to the *left* of its original position from the start point of the deviation, i.e. *upstream* in the sequencing direction. Those bases already present upstream in the sample sequence, equivalent to the shift value, are base insertions.





• If the deviation occurs within a sample with an *AntiSense* sequencing direction, a *positive* size value indicates an *insertion* of length equal to the size value. This can be explained in that a statistically meaningful alignment is obtained in the affected sequence area if the sample sequence is shifted to the *right* of its original position from the start point of the deviation, i.e. *upstream* in the sequencing direction. Those bases already present upstream in the sample sequence, equivalent to the shift value, are base insertions.



Figure 5-30. Example of a sample with an Anti-Sense sequencing direction containing a mixture insertion deviation of 3 bases.

• If the deviation occurs within a sample with an *AntiSense* sequencing direction, a *negative* size value indicates a *deletion* of length equal to the size value. This can be explained in that a statistically meaningful alignment is obtained in the affected sequence area if the sample sequence is shifted to the *left* of its original position from the start point of the deviation, i.e. *downstream* in the sequencing direction. This leaves a gap in the sample sequence, hence a deletion.



Figure 5-31. Example of a sample with an Anti-Sense sequencing direction containing a mixture deletion deviation of 3 bases.

5.5 User detected deviation

In some circumstances, you may wish to highlight a base position in the sample sequence, which has been detected as a wild type base, and give a specific comment. Moreover, you may want to change the assignment from the wild type to another type of single base deviation. This may be useful if, for example, the mutated component in a sample gave a very weak signal and was thus difficult to detect during sequencing. Mutation Analyser allows a user to identify and assign single base deviations, i.e. ambiguities, point replacements and sequence stops. Such situations will only normally be found on close inspection of the raw data curves.

- 1. In the **Raw Data Curves** field, select the base to which you want to add a comment and/or change the assignment. Naturally this corresponds to the wild type base in the gene configuration, otherwise it would have been automatically detected as a deviation.
- 2. Select Edit:User Detected Deviation. Information about the detected deviation will now be displayed in the Deviations Table and be designated UserDev.

Alternatively, if you know the position of a specific base without needing to look in the **Raw Data Curves** field, select **Edit:User Detected Deviation**. A dialogue will be displayed into which you should enter the base position number. Click on **OK**. Information about the detected deviation will now be displayed in the **Deviations Table** and be designated **UserDev**.

3. In the **Single Base Assignment** bar, the base corresponding to the wild type will be checked. Add a comment in the appropriate field and click on **Approve** if you intend to keep the wild type assignment.

Alternatively, check the appropriate base option(s) and click on the **Approve** button.

4. The **Deviations Table** will now be automatically updated.

5.6 Some "Golden rules" for interpreting mutation data

It may sometimes be difficult to establish whether a listed deviation is a real mutation or an artifact. A few simple suggestions may help you to make such judgements.

5.6.1 Single base deviations

- 1. Check if any of the suggested bases for an ambiguity are the result of an artifact. If not, there most likely exists more than one population of cells which have a different base at the same sequence position.
- 2. Check what changes occur at the amino acid level resulting from a specific point replacement or an alternative base suggested by an ambiguity code. See Section 5.2.
- 3. Out of the four ALF curves, a maximum of two peaks should be present at the site of an ambiguity. More than two peaks implies possible sequencing compression or stop. In case of doubt, compare these peak positions in other samples, preferably from the same gel.
- 4. Where an ambiguous peak on the curve is suggested as being a mutation, the background on the curve should be stable and regular in the area around the ambiguity. Check if there is noise on the curve in the regions before and after the ambiguous peak.
- 5. The mutation, or change in the DNA sequence, should *not* be present in all clones. If so, this suggests a sequencing artifact.
- 6. Estimate the peak height and valley depth by comparing similar regions within and between samples. This will give you an indication of whether a peak is likely to be an artifact. Take into consideration the sequence context, i.e. the size of a peak is influenced by the specific pattern of neighbouring sequences. Comparisons of different regions within the same sample are not totally reliable since the peak heights and valley depths are dependent on the resolution at a particular point of the run.
- 7. When available, you can confirm a suspected mutation by reading the overlapping sequence from the neighbouring fragment.
- 8. If a suspected mutation is not clear enough, you must do a confirmation run with newly sequenced DNA from the original tissue sample.

5.6.2 Deletions and insertions

- 1. In a heterogeneous cell population, if the deletion or insertion is large (>5-7 bases) you should see widened, or even two extension product peaks. This corresponds to there being one DNA fragment being longer or shorter than the other fragment in the mixed sample population.
- 2. If the additional end peak described in the previous point comes before the normal end peak, this indicates a deletion. An extra peak after the normal peak indicates an insertion. Compare with neighbouring clones of the same fragment type.
- 3. Smaller deletions or insertions (2-4 bases) are indicated by an end peak that is wider than normal. This may be difficult to measure.
- 4. Look for the characteristic behaviour of deletions or insertions when a well-aligned sequence suddenly becomes mixed and generates a lot of ambiguities. These instances usually require you to perform an automated mixture analysis to determine the size.

6. Configuration Editor

The Configuration Editor application allows you to create your own configuration files for a specific gene. Gene configurations are based on the wild type sequence for the gene, and are consequently loaded into Mutation Analyser and used as the basis for alignment with sample sequences and consequent detection of deviations.

Gene configurations can be based on genomic DNA or mRNA/cDNA. See Section 6.13 for three examples of gene configurations.

6.1 Creating a new gene configuration

- 1. Start the application, select the Configuration Editor program from the Windows 95 Start menu.
- 2. Select File:New Configuration. The Configuration Type dialogue is automatically displayed in which you must select either Genomic DNA or mRNA/cDNA corresponding to the configuration you want to create.

Configuration Type						
What type of configuration?						
Genomic DNA	mRNA/cDNA					
·	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					

Figure 6-1. Configuration type dialogue.

- 3. An empty Overview window is displayed, called Noname.cfg.
- 4. Select **Edit:Edit Description** to open a dialogue that allows you to add a description that is valid for the whole gene configuration.

Jescription			ок
Description			
ret exons 1	0,11,16		Cancel
Comment			

Figure 6-2. Configuration description dialogue.

6.2 Defining a region

A region is a defined sequence of up to 20,000 bases in length. The sequence is imported into Configuration Editor and is derived from several sources; typically from the international sequence databases accessible on the Internet or as an ALF/ALX file generated from ALF/ALF*express* sequencers. Within a region, specific objects that are relevant to the gene configuration can be added, such as sequencer fragments, exons, areas of interest and points of interest. For particularly large or complex genes, the configuration can be split into several regions (see Section 6.6).

6.2.1 Importing an ALF/ALX sequence

1. Select File:Add Region and choose ALF/ALX from the submenu options. The Import ALF/ALX Sequence dialogue is displayed for the appropriate file format.

Import ALF/AL	Sequence			? ×
Look <u>i</u> n:	🔁 Samples 🔹	· 🗈	<u>e</u> ř	8-6- 8-6-
p53demo1.al p53demo2.al p53demo3.al p53demo4.al p53mix.alf RETdemo1.e RETdemo2.e RETdemo3.e	f f f lx lx lx			
File <u>n</u> ame:	*.alx;*.alf			<u>O</u> pen
Files of type:	ALF/ALX files (*.alx*.alf)		•	Cancel

Figure 6-3. Import dialogue for an ALF/ALX sequence.

Locate the file containing the sequence and click on **OK**.

3. If the sequencer fragment is an AntiSense strand, check the Anti-Sense Strand box.

Check the **Reference Fragment** box if the raw data for the selected sample is to be viewed in the **Raw Data Curves** field during mutation analysis (see Section 4.6.5).

Open	efor Demo	Ren Exen10	
Date	09-20-96	Cond Standard	
Availa	able Samples		
1	Nerse	Content	
	Emply		
	empty emp10	wt 8001	
	Engly	18 - Front	
1 1	exon 10	tor_rot	
Asti	Sense Strand	Add Benisn Fy2	
		Add Region Ext	

Figure 6-4.ALF/ALX file dialogue. An ALX demo sample for exon 10 of the RET gene is selected.

- 4. Click on Add Region.
- 5. The Define Region dialogue is displayed.

Contine Region	×
Settings Name	ОК
Region 1	Canada
Position of first base	Cancer
1	
🗖 Set Upper Case	

Figure 6-5. Define Region dialogue for a genomic DNA configuration.

Enter a name for the region and the position of the first base in that region, usually number '1'. If the sequence consists entirely of lower case letters, as obtained from some databases, these could be converted to uppercase by checking the **Set Upper Case** option. Do *not* check this option if you are able to define exons based on the case of the bases (see Section 6.4.3).

If you are defining a gene configuration for mRNA/cDNA, you can also add information here for amino acid sequence generation (see Section 6.7.4).

6. A sequencer fragment will be automatically generated from the ALF/ALX sequence corresponding to the defined region.

However, if the imported file contains ambiguity codes, the **Ambiguities in Fragment** dialogue is automatically displayed. This dialogue shows all of the detected ambiguities in the **Ambiguities Found** field and allows you to reassign or exclude these bases accordingly.

- The Adjust Base field allows you to select a base for the highlighted ambiguity and replace it by clicking on **Replace**. If you select the wildcard character (\$) and then click on **Replace**, the Adjusted Code can represent any one of the four bases A,C,G,T.
- You can exclude sequence data up to and including the selected ambiguity by selecting **Cut From Beginning** and then clicking on **Cut**. Alternatively, you can exclude all ambiguities from the currently selected position by selecting **Cut To End** and then clicking on **Cut**.
- Note: **Cut** does not remove or delete sequence data, but instead affects the extent of the sequencer fragment to be defined.

Ambiguities In Fragn	nent							
Ambiguities Found								
Position	149	152	154	155	156	157	158	1
Original Code	М	S	Ν	V	V	Ν	N	N
Adjusted Code	м	S	N	V	V	N	N	Ν
Adjust Base Adjust Fragment Extent								
	5	O C	ut Fror	n Begi	nning			
		ΘC	ut To E	End			Define	9
Replac	e				Cut		Skip	

Figure 6-6. Ambiguities in Fragment dialogue.

7. Click on **Define** once you have made the appropriate adjustments. If there are still ambiguities present within the remaining fragment extent, a warning message will be displayed indicating that a sequencer fragment cannot be automatically created while ambiguities remain.

Alternatively, click on **Skip** to define the region inclusive of all ambiguities, although no sequencer fragment will be automatically produced.



Figure 6-7. Overview window with defined region and automatically generated sequencer fragment based on an ALX sample for exon 10 of the RET gene. Note that the sequencing direction of sequencer fragment is indicated with an arrow.

8. The sequence is imported into the **Overview** window and displayed at the lowest magnification. Increased magnification will display more detail (see Section 6.3.1).

6.2.2 Importing GenBank sequences

1. Select **File:Add Region** and choose **GenBank** from the submenu options. The **Import GenBank Sequence** dialogue is displayed for the appropriate file format.

Select the appropriate file and click on **OK**.

2. The GenBank Import dialogue is displayed.

This presents information stored in the GenBank file imported from the GenBank database via the Internet. The information contained within a GenBank file may sometimes be incomplete so you should exercise care when defining a region.

In the **GenBank Import** dialogue you can define one or more regions, depending on the number of sequences contained within the file, and also define exons based on the supplied start and end positions.



Figure 6-8. GenBank Import dialogue.

3. Select a sequence and click on Add Region. The Define Region dialogue is displayed.

Enter a name for the region and the position of the first base in that region, usually number '1'. If the sequence consists entirely of lower case letters, as obtained from some databases, these could be converted to uppercase by checking the **Set Upper Case** option. Do *not* check this option if you are able to define exons based on the case of the bases (see Section 6.4.3).

If you are defining a gene configuration for mRNA/cDNA, you can also add information here for amino acid sequence generation (see Section 6.7.4).

Click on **OK**. The **Overview** window is updated with the sequence information. The **GenBank Import** dialogue also remain open.

4. Some GenBank files contain **Exon** data. The exon number is displayed together with the **Start** and **Stop** base position delimiting the extent of the exon.

Select an exon and click on Add. The Add Object dialogue is displayed to define the exon. If the added exon has a number in the GenBank Import dialogue, this will be displayed in the Exon No field of the Add Object dialogue. Similarly, the Start and Stop positions will be defined in the Extent field.

Settings		
Region: 1. DPADE	IG1	Add
Type-		Exit
€ Eson	C Aren of interest	
€ SequencerFr	agment C Point of Interest	
Exon no		
1		
Extent		
40 = 119		
Search S	earch	
Coding Sequence	e Information	
Coden No P	osition	
	Search	
-	orderen	

Figure 6-9. Add Object dialogue for an exon added from the GenBank Import dialogue.

In some circumstances, the exon number or start/stop positions may not be available in the **GenBank Import** dialogue, and are thus not entered into the **Add Object** dialogue. These must be entered manually.

For more information on adding exon objects, see Section 6.4.

- 5. Repeat step 4 to add other exons. These will be added to the gene configuration as you define them.
- 6. Click on **Exit** in the **GenBank Import** dialogue when you have added all relevant information.

6.2.3 Importing ASCII file sequences

Prior to import, sequence data obtained from the Internet should be viewed in an appropriate text editor application on your PC. Superfluous information such as the title and other descriptive information should be deleted leaving only the sequence data and possible base position numbering information. 1. Select File:Add Region and choose Plain ASCII from the submenu options. The Import ASCII Sequence dialogue is displayed for the appropriate file format.

Select the appropriate file and click on **OK**.

2. Select a sequence and click on Add Region. The Define Region dialogue is displayed.

Enter a name for the region and the position of the first base in that region, usually number '1'. If the sequence consists entirely of lower case letters, as obtained from some databases, these could be converted to uppercase by checking the **Set Upper Case** option. Do *not* check this option if you are able to define exons based on the case of the bases (see Section 6.4.3).

If you are defining a gene configuration for mRNA/cDNA, you can also add information here for amino acid sequence generation (see Section 6.7.4).

Click on **OK**. The **Overview** window is updated with the sequence information.

6.3 Navigating the region

There are several tools available that allow you navigate the region and view the sequence data along.

6.3.1 Using the zoom function

The zoom function allows you to magnify an area of the **Overview** window contents so that the individual bases in the configuration sequence can be visualised.

Increasing magnification

To successively *increase the magnification*, first select the region of interest and then repeatedly select **View:Zoom In** or **Zoom In** located on the right mouse button menu, or press <F7> on the keyboard. With increased magnification, the individual coloured bases in the configuration sequence can be visualised. A scale bar spanning the whole region can also be seen. If there are ambiguity codes in the sequence, these are coloured black.

Reducing magnification

To successively *reduce the magnification*, repeatedly select **View:Zoom Out** or **Zoom Out** located on the right mouse button menu, or press <F8> on the keyboard. To return to the default (lowest) magnification, select View:Full Zoom Out or Full Zoom Out located on the right mouse button menu, or <F6> on the keyboard.

Note: If your gene configuration contains more than one region, the full zoom out function will show an overview of all regions (see Section 6.6.2).

😌 Overview: Noname.	dg (D	env)														×
Configuration:											÷					
C A 0 0			A		c	A		т	T		c	A		+		
	50		•		-		-		-		80		-	-	4	
Region: 1: Region 1																
Fragments: Pegion 1																
Exons:																
Areas Of Interest:																
Points of Interest:																- 2
•																÷

Figure 6-10. Overview window with full magnification.

6.3.2 Finding a sequence

You can use the find function to find a string of bases in the sequence.

- 1. Use the zoom function (see Section 6.3.1) to maximise the magnification in the window for optimal visualisation of the individual bases.
- 2. Select **Edit:Find** and the **Find** dialogue is displayed.

Find		
Criteria		I
Search String	Load Save As	Exit
GGGGCAG		
Complement Find	Start Position 0	Find First
		Find First
		Find Next

Figure 6-11. Find dialogue.

Configuration Editor

Enter a search string, either by directly entering a sequence into the **Search String** field, or by loading a previously saved string by clicking on the **Load** button.

Any search string can be saved for future use by clicking on the **Save As** button and giving an appropriate name.

2. Define any other search criteria that you want:

Complement Find	Check this box if you want to search the complementary sequence using complementary bases to those in the Search String field.
Backward search	This looks for the search string beginning at the end of the sequence.

- 3. Click on **Find First** and if the string is present in the sequence, its first occurrence will be detected and the **Start Position** shown. The **Start Position** always shows the detected position within the configuration sequence with respect to the first base in the search string. Click on **Find Next** to locate the next occurrence of the string. The **Overview** window is automatically centred on the located string.
- 4. Click on **Exit** when the appropriate **Position** value is obtained.

😫 Overview: Noneme ctg (DNA)		
	Configuration:	-
		Í
с с т с л е и		тетт
Region: 1 Region 1	43	50
Fragments:		
Exons:		
Areas Of Interest:		
Points of Interest:		

Figure 6-12. Overview window centred on the search string used in the Find dialogue, e.g. GGGGCAG.

6.3.3 Defining gene configuration objects

The overview mode can be used to directly define the extent of bases for objects to be added to the gene configuration (see Section 6.4). This is particularly useful for defining areas of interest or points of interest.

- 1. Locate the base(s) of interest using the **Find** function (see Section 6.3.2).
- 2. To define a string of bases to create an object, hold down the left mouse button and drag the cursor over the appropriate bases. For longer sequences, select the first base and click on the <Shift> key when selecting the last base to select all bases in between.

😫 Overview	K C:\P	Yogr	an	File	s\Biot	ech\Mu	tation\	ret g	gm1.	ctg (DN/	N)			- 0	×
	Co	nfi	igu	ıra	tior	n: ret	. ex	on	s 1	0,	11	,13	2			÷
A T		с	A	С	c	G	C A	A	с	т		с	т	т	с	
	tdo		•			•	•		110		•		•		•	
Region: Region	1															
Fragment	s:															
Exons:																
Areas Of	Intere	st:														
Points of	Intere	est:														Ι.
•								-							2	ŕ

Figure 6-13. Selected sequence, TGC, defining the extent of an object to be created.

- 3. Select **Edit:Add Object**. The **Object** dialogue is displayed and the extent values of the selection are shown (see section 6.4).
- 4. Enter the other variables for the object, e.g. type and name of object (see Section 6.4 for details).

6.3.4 Adjusting bases in the sequence

You can edit or delete selected bases in the sequence or insert new bases.

1. Select the relevant base in the sequence and then select **Edit Sequence** from the right mouse button menu. The **Edit Sequence** dialogue is displayed.

	<u> </u>
Adjust Base	
ACG <u>T</u> \$	
00000	
Replace Insert	Delete
Note: Changes are permane	ent.

Figure 6-14. Edit Sequence dialogue.

2. To replace the base, select an alternative base A,C,T,G or \$ (can be any one of the four bases) and click on **Replace**.

To delete the selected base, click on **Delete**.

To insert a base, make the appropriate selection and click on **Insert**. The base is inserted *after* the currently selected base.

Warning

This function should be used with careful consideration since no record is made of the base editing that you perform.

6.4 Adding objects to the gene configuration

Objects can be added to the gene configuration such as sequencer fragments, exons, areas of interest and points of interest.

Attention

It is important that at least one sequencer fragment is defined, either automatically or manually, in order for the gene configuration to be functional for analysis purposes.

6.4.1 Adding a new object:

- 1. Select Edit: Add Object. The Add Object dialogue is displayed.
- 2. Select the type of object to be created, either Exon, Sequencer Fragment, Area of Interest or Point of Interest. This will affect the other fields displayed in the dialogue.
- 3. Enter the appropriate information for the selected object (see below).
- 4. Click on Add to include the new object in the gene configuration.

- 5. Repeat steps 2 to 4 for other objects you want to add.
- 6. Click on **Exit** once you have added all objects. The **Overview** window will display all of the objects that you have added.

Adding a sequencer fragment object

This is valid for regions where there was no automatic generation of a sequencer fragment resulting from using an ALF/ALX sample (see Section 6.2).

Many mutation analysis methods are based on sequencing both the Sense and AntiSense strands. It is recommended that you define two separate sequencer fragment objects, one for each direction. It may be convenient, for example, to have the option to separately adjust the extents of both objects later on when the method is being optimised. It also aids documentation of the method.

Settings	
Region: 1. Region 1	Add
- Туре	- Exit
C Exce C Area of Interest	
P Sequencer Fragment C Point of Interest	
None	
Extent	
Search Search	
Pieterence Sample	
File Name Pes. No.	

Figure 6-15.Add Object dialogue for a sequencer fragment.

Sequencer fragments are necessary for the analysis process to function in Mutation Analyser. The sequencer fragments also define and document the evaluation method.

- 1. Enter a name for the sequencer fragment.
- 2. Enter the **Extent** position values for the object (see Section 6.4.2).

- 3. If the object is an AntiSense strand, check the **Anti-Sense Strand** box.
- 4. Optionally, define a reference ALF/ALX sample corresponding to this sequencer fragment that will be displayed in the Raw Data Curves field during mutation analysis (see Section 4.6.5). Click on the Browse button to locate the relevant reference file and sample. The pathway to this file is updated in the Ref. Sample File field.

Adding an exon object

Exon objects may already have been added if you defined a region using GenBank sequence data (see Section 6.2.2).

Region: 1. Region	1	
Тури		Exit
@ Exon	 Area of interest 	
C Sequencer Pro	ignest 个 Paint of Interest	
Exon no		
Extent		
	-	
Search Se	arch	
Coding Sequence	e Information	
Codon No Po	sition	
	int l	

Figure 6-16. Add Object dialogue for an exon.

- 1. Enter the **Exon no**.
- 2. Enter the **Extent** position values for the object (see Section 6.4.2). If the sequence is derived from an Internet database and utilises lower case/upper case letters for the definition of introns and exons, exon objects can be easily added using the functions described in Section 6.4.3.
- 3. Enter the **Coding Sequence Information** for automatic generation of the amino acid sequence (see Section 6.7).

Note: An exon is a pre-requisite for obtaining amino acid information during analysis using genomic DNA gene configurations. cDNA/mRNA configurations, by contrast do not necessarily need defined exons to show the amino acid sequence (see Section 6.7).

Adding an area of interest object

Add Object		
Settings		
Region: 1. Region 1		Add
Туре		Exit
C Exon	Area of Interest	
C Sequencer Fragm	ent C Point of Interest	
Extent Search Searc	-	-

Figure 6-17. Add Object dialogue for an area of interest.

- 1. Enter a name for the area of interest.
- 2. Enter the **Extent** position values for the object (see Section 6.4.2). This is particularly useful for visualising specific codons.



Adding a point of interest object

Figure 6-18. Add Object dialogue for a point of interest.

- 1. Enter a name for the point of interest.
- 2. Enter the **Position** value for the object (see Section 6.4.2). This is particularly useful for defining polymorphic base positions or mutation hotspots. The **Name** field could then be used for information about known substitutions.

6.4.2 Defining the extent of objects

The extent of an object can be defined in four ways, by:

- selecting the base range in overview mode (see Section 6.3.3)
- manually entering the extent values in the **Object** dialogue
- utilising the lower case/upper case sequence definition (*exons only*, see Section 6.4.3).
- using the embedded Search function to locate the relevant positions

To use the **Search** function:

1. Click on the appropriate **Search** button and the **Find** dialogue is displayed.

6

Criterin			04
Search String	Load	Seve As	
GGGGCAG			Cancel
Complement Find	Start Position	D	Find First
Backward Search			Find Next
Offset			
Add 0 Bases To	C end of s	search string.	

Figure 6-19.Search dialogue.

2. Enter a search string, either by directly entering a sequence into the **Search String** field, or by loading a previously saved string by clicking on the **Load** button.

Any search string can be saved for future use by clicking on the **Save As** button and giving an appropriate name.

3. Define any other search criteria that you want:

Complement Find	Check this box if you want to search the complementary sequence using complementary bases to those in the Search String field.
Backward search	This looks for the search string beginning at the end of the sequence.
Start Position	You can define the base position number from where the search begins. After the search, the base position in the located sequence corresponding to the first base in the search string is shown.
Offset	Add xx Bases To allows you to add (or subtract if a negative value is given) a specified number of base positions relative to the start of or the end of the search string. After the search is complete. This value will be used to define one of the extent values for the new object.

Configuration Editor

- 4. Click on **Find First** and if the string is present in the sequence, its first occurrence will be detected and the **Start Position** shown. The **Start Position** always shows the detected position with respect to the first base in the search string. Click on **Find Next** to locate the next occurrence of the string.
- 5. When you have obtained the correct **Start Position** value, click on **OK**. The value will be automatically entered in the appropriate **Extent** field for which you performed the search and will be the same as the **Start Position** value, unless you specified other criteria in the **Offset** field.

6.4.3 Defining exons based on case

Some databases accessible via the Internet supply sequences that classify intron regions in one case (upper or lower) and exon regions in the other case. This classification allows exon regions to be easily defined and be added as objects to the gene configuration.

😚 Over	view	Non	amo.	cfg (C	INA]			HI	H				H	H	HE			H	10	l ×
							C	on	figu	Irat	tior	1:								-
: с		c	с	t	A	с	τ		т	с	т					¢			с	
5	•		•••				•		20						•		•		30	18
Regio	n:																			
Fragm	ients	e																		
Exons	:																			
	~																			
Areas	UP II	nteri	est.																	
Points	sori	nter	eor.																	
																				ك
<u> </u>		000	2000	0111						0.00				000	2000	000		000		

Figure 6-20. Example of an imported sequence containing an exon defined by upper case bases, flanked by lower case letters defining intron data.

If the imported sequence is classified as described:

- 1. Display the **Overview** window and select the relevant region.
- 2. Select Edit:Auto-Define Exons. The Auto-Define Exons dialogue is displayed.

Auto-Define Exons	
Exons Defined By • Upper Case (ACGT)	ОК
O Lower Case (acgt)	Cancel
Search © Selected Region © All Regions	

Figure 6-21. Auto-Define dialogue.

- 3. Select the case by which the exons are defined in the sequence, either **Upper Case** or **Lower Case**.
- 4. Select if the search should include only the selected region or all regions if there are more than one. Click on **OK**.
- 5. The **Add Object** dialogue displays the extent of the first detected exon region.

Region: 1. Exon 1 and	12	A00
Туре		Next
€ Exa	C Anna of Internet	
C Sequence Frage	ant C Point of Internal	
Exon no		
1		
Extent		
33 - 56	-	
Search Sean	ah _	
Coding Sequence In	formation	
Codon No Posit	ion	
Con	with [

Figure 6-22. Add Object dialogue.

- 6. Enter the **Exon no**.
- 7. Click on Add to include this object in the gene configuration.
- 8. Click on **Next** to locate each exon in the region(s) and add them accordingly.

If you click on **Next** after the last exon has been located you will be informed that there are no more exons and the dialogue will automatically close. Click on **Quit** to close the dialogue at any other time.

9. Added exons are displayed in the **Overview** window.

6.4.4 Including mutation frequency statistics

- 1. Select a region.
- 2. Select File:Add Mutation Statistics. The Import Mutation Statistics dialogue is displayed. Select the relevant file and click on Open.

The statistics are presented as a bar histogram on the base position scale.

Note: Mutation statistics should be stored in tabbed ASCII files, one for each region. Each file should contain the position numbers of the bases and the corresponding frequencies in two tabseparated columns. These kinds of files can be easily created in, for example, Microsoft[®] Excel.

6.5 Selecting, editing and deleting objects

6.5.1 Selecting an object

Click on an object in the **Overview** window to select it. Alternatively, select **Edit:Select Next Object** to move consecutively forward through the objects, or **Edit:Select Previous Object** to consecutively move backwards through objects. The selected object is coloured blue.

6.5.2 Editing an object

To edit an object, select it and then select **Edit:Edit Object** or **Edit Object** from the right mouse button menu. The **Edit Object** dialogue is displayed.

6.5.3 Deleting an object

To delete the selected object, select **Edit:Delete Selected Object** or **Delete Object** from the right mouse button menu, or press on the keyboard.

6.6 Working with several regions

You can add more regions to the configuration sequence up to a maximum of 100 regions, each containing up to 20,000 bases. Regions are a convenient way of splitting particularly large or complex sequences into manageable units. Separate regions are also used when you want to aggregate non-contiguous sequence data in one configuration.

6.6.1 Adding new regions

New regions are created exactly as for the first region. In brief:

- 1. Select **File:Add Region** and the relevant file format from the submenu options. The appropriate **Import Sequence** dialogue is displayed. Select the sequence (see Section 6.2) for the configuration in that region and click on **OK**. Create a region based on the specific details for the sequence file format that you are using (see Section 6.2).
- Note: Regions are sequentially added and numbered within the gene configuration in the order that you add new regions. See Section 6.6.3 if you want to change the order of the regions.
- 3. Build up the gene configuration by adding objects (see Section 6.4).

6.6.2 Viewing the whole configuration

When there is more than one region, the whole gene configuration can be viewed by selecting **View:Full Zoom Out** or **Full Zoom Out** from the right mouse button menu.

Overview: C:UProgram Files\BistechUMuterion\Configure	nions(ret).clg (DNA)
Configuration: ret.e	exon 10,11,16
Regions: Region1 Region2	Pegien3
Fragments; pagment 1	pagrant 3
Exons: Exen 1	5111. 2
Areas of Interest: poten 609 paten 634 poten 611 poten 691 getan 618 poten 620	podan 918
Points of Interest:	

Figure 6-23. Overview window containing three regions defined for the Ret exons 10, 11, and 16 respectively. Note that Region 2 is surrounded by a box, which denotes that it is active.

The active region is surrounded by box. Use the Zoom function to view only the selected region (see Section 6.3.1).

6.6.3 Rearranging regions

The regions are automatically arranged in the order that you add them to the gene configuration. You can rearrange this order:

1. Select **Edit:Rearrange Regions**. The **Overview** window is automatically displayed with the minimum magnification to show all of the regions.

Each of the regions has a large identifier number indicating its current placement in the order.

2. Click on the identifier number that you want to change to be the *first region* in the gene configuration. Its number becomes '1'.

😵 Overview: C:(Program Pilos)(Biolock)(Matalia	eV/Conligarel	ansizett olg (DMA)	
Configuratio	n: ret.e:	xon 10,11,16	
			- 10000000
Registration			
		S	
Fragments:			
pagnant 1 hagmont 2		-	pagment 3
Evens: Even 2			Exce 2
4			Prove i
postor EDS guide Eld			poderi 910
poten 611 contex 618	Podan 691		
ginden 828			
Points of Interest:			
			2

Figure 6-24. Overview window displaying the original order of the three regions, 1, 2, 3, created for the Ret gene in the gene configuration.

3. Click on the other identifier numbers in sequential order that you want the regions to be placed.

Configuration: ret.exon 10,11,16								
Region								
Fragments: jsgment1tsgment2		jagewei 2						
Exons: Exon 2		pren 2						
Areas of Interest: poten 508 poten 634 poten 610 poten 610 poten 620	puber495	Jugar, 213						
Points of interest:								



4. Select Edit:Rearrange Regions once more (to remove the check mark) and the regions are rearranged according to your selection.

😌 Overview: CAProgram P	Yes Ulietech Universition/Centigurations/yer/3.ctg (DNA)	
	Configuration: ret.exon 10,11,16	÷
Regions	Pegen2	
Fragments:	fagrant 3 hage and 2	
Exons:	<u>front, front</u> , front	
Areas of interest:	pater 918 president pater 604 pater 610 pater 610 pater 620	
Points of Interest:		

Figure 6-26. Overview window displaying the rearranged order of the three regions, 1,2,3, based on the previous figure.

5. If you want to change the name of individual regions as a result of the rearrangement, select the region and then select **Edit:Edit Region Settings**. The **Define Region** dialogue is displayed.

Define Region	×
Settings Name Region 1 Position of first base 1	OK Cancel
Set Upper Case	1



6.6.4 Deleting a region

To delete a region, first make sure that it is active and then click on **File:Delete Selected Region**.

6.7 Defining the amino acid sequence

Configuration Editor can automatically calculate for the amino acid sequence for gene configurations.

For genomic DNA configurations, this uses the coding sequence bases contained within the defined exons of the gene configuration. You need to supply the start position to the coding sequence in the correct reading frame for the first appropriate exon. The amino acid sequence for that exon and all contiguous exons will be automatically generated (see section 6.7.1). It is also possible to account for non-contiguous exons in a gene configuration (see section 6.7.2).

For mRNA/cDNA sequences, you can define the amino acid sequence based on exons as for genomic DNA, but a simpler method is to use the Define Region dialogue (see Section 6.7.4).

6.7.1 Contiguously numbered exons

- 1. Add the exon objects (see Sections 6.4.1 and 6.6.1) for all regions (see Section 6.6.1) in the gene configuration.
- 2. Select the first exon containing the coding sequence in the gene configuration.
- Note: Some upstream exons in a gene may not contain coding sequence bases but instead are used in site recognition etc.
- 3. Use the Find function to locate the first base of the start codon in the selected exon. Briefly, use the Zoom function to maximise the magnification of the **Overview** window for the selected region (see Section 6.3.1). Select **Edit:Find** to display the **Find** dialogue. Enter the appropriate search string for the start codon, often ATG. Click on **Find First** and **Find Next** until the appropriate start codon string is located in the sequence. Note down the **Start Position** value from the **Find** dialogue and click on **Exit** (see Section 6.3.2).



Figure 6-28. Example of using the Find dialogue to locate the appropriate start position of the start codon for the coding sequence.

- 4. Select **Edit:Edit Object** or select **Edit Object** from the right mouse button menu. The **Edit Object** dialogue is displayed for the selected exon.
- 5. In the **Coding Sequence Information** field, enter the start **Codon no.** and also the **Position** value that you obtained in step 3.

-Coding Sequence Information						
Position						
33						
Search						

Figure 6-29. Coding Sequence Information field in the Edit Object (exon) dialogue defining the first codon and coding position.

7. Click on **OK** in the **Edit Object** box and the amino acid sequence for all contiguous exons will be automatically calculated and displayed.

Ownview C (Program Filer)Bisted/(Mutricel/Configuration/)bios/edibbios-e.olg (594) Configuration:									- 10 ×		
			A	1 Met A		Asp A	т	t ^{eu} t	f ^{ser} c	т	Ala
Regian: I: Gegiant	Ŕ		•			·		40			
Fragments: Programti Exons: Exor 2									 		•
Areas Of Interest: Points of Interest:											
1											

Figure 6-30. Overview of Region 1 of the BRCA1 gene configuration. The amino acid sequence is generated based on the defined start position within Exon 2. Note that it is Exon 2 and not Exon 1 that contains the start to the coding sequence.

With reduced magnification, the extent of the amino acid sequence is seen on other contiguous exons.



Figure 6-31. Overview of Regions 1 and 2 of the BRCA1 gene configuration. The amino acid sequence is automatically generated along contiguous exons, in this case for Exons 2 and 3.
6.7.2 Non-contiguously numbered exons

In some gene configurations, sequence information for all exons may not be available.

The gene configuration BRCA1 is an interesting example because:

- Exon 2 rather that Exon 1 contains the first coding sequence information.
- It contains 24 exons, of which sequence information for the noncoding Exon 4 is unavailable.

This means that Exon 2 is used as the first exon to define the coding sequence. Moreover, when calculating the amino acid sequence from Exon 2, only Exon 3 is automatically included as it is contiguous with the previous exon. The next exon is Exon 5, which is non-contiguous with exon 3, thus Exons 5 to 24 are not included in the initial automatic amino acid sequence generation.



Figure 6-32. Automatic amino acid sequence generation between contiguous BRCA1 Exons 2 and 3 but no further generation within the non-contiguous Exon 5 and beyond.

To automatically generate the amino acid sequence in the other exons:

1. Select the first exon in the relevant region after the non-contiguous break, e.g. Exon 5 in Region 3 of the BRCA1 gene configuration. Select **Edit:Edit Object**.

- 2. In the **Coding Sequence Information** field, enter the **Position** from which the amino acid sequence calculation should be started. Take care to select the position giving correct reading frame. For example, in Exon 5 of the BRCA1 gene configuration, this is the second base position in the exon (position 72).
- 3. Enter the correct **Codon no.**
- 6. Click on **OK** in the **Edit Object** box and the amino acid sequence for all exons contiguous to the current exon will be automatically calculated and displayed.

😌 Overview: C:\Prog	rom Files\Di	atechijMete	tioe/Configurat	ions\brca1edib2.c	ig (DNA) 🛛 🗖 🗙
		С	onfigura	tion:	-
:					
	_		1		
	_				
Regions:	2 Region2	Begional	d: Regiona		6 Reside
			5 51	Regiond	
Fragments: <u>Fregment1_</u>	hagmant2	Fragment3 Fragment3	Fragment4 Fra	amentó Framentóas	Fragments Fragmentias
Exons:					
Exer 2	E op 3	<u>Enn</u> 5	pres p	<u>Fam 7</u>	From D,
Areas of Interest:					
Points of Interest:					
					-
× 5555555555555					L.



6.7.3 Selecting the wrong reading frame

If for some reason you select the wrong start position for generating the amino acid sequence, the calculation will be performed in the wrong reading frame. This should be clearly evident once the calculation has been made since the amino acid sequence across all of the exons will be prematurely terminated. This termination results from the random occurrence of stop codons produced in the wrong reading frame. Configuration Editor stops the process of generating an amino acid sequence when it meets the first stop codon, for example TAA, TAG or TGA in the Universal transcription mode (see Section 6.7.5), in the exon coding sequence.



Figure 6-34. Amino sequence of BRCA1 Exon 5 generated in the wrong reading frame leading to termination at the first occurring stop codon, TAA.

6.7.4 Amino acid sequences for mRNA/cDNA configurations

Since mRNA and cDNA do not contain intron data, the gene configuration should contain abutted exons, thus giving an uninterrupted coding sequence. This means that the sequence data used to define the region can be directly used to generate the amino acid sequence.

- 1. Create a gene configuration for mRNA/cDNA. You should not define any exon objects.
- 2. Select Edit:Edit Region Settings. The Define Region dialogue is displayed.
- 3. Enter the **Codon No.** and the start **Position** number from which the amino acid sequence generation will begin.
- 4. Click on **OK** and the amino acid sequence is generated.

S Define Region	×
Settings Name	ОК
of J Gene	Cancel
Position of first base	
L	
🗂 Set Upper Case	
Coding Sequence Information	
Codon No Position	
Search	

Figure 6-35. Define Region dialogue for an mRNA/cDNA gene configuration.

6.7.5 Codon translation options

There is unusual codon use in some mitochondrial DNA sources, such that mRNA transcripts can produce different amino acids for some codons compared to the normal ('universal') assignment in eukaryotic and prokaryotic cells. You can account for this unusual codon use by selecting the correct translation option. This will automatically update the amino acid sequence.

Select **Options:Codon Translation Options** and check the relevant DNA source from the sub-menu, i.e. **Universal** (used in most cases for normal assignment in eukaryotic and prokaryotic cells), **Human Mitochondria**, **Yeast Mitochondria** and **Neurospora Mitochondria**.

RNA Codon	Universal	Human Mitochondria	Yeast Mitochondria	Neurospora Mitochondria
UGA	Stop	Trp	Trp	Trp
CUU CUC CUA CUG	Leu	Leu	Thr	Leu
AUA	Ile	Met	Met	Ile
AGA AGG	ARG	Stop	Arg	Arg

The following table shows the unusual codon use:

Table 6-1. Unusual codon use in mitochondria [4].

6.8 Saving and loading a gene configuration

Use File:Save Configuration to save the gene configuration. Unsaved configurations are called Noname.cfg.

Save changes to the gene configuration using **File:Save Configuration** or create a copy of the configuration under a new name with **File:Save Configuration As**.

Previously saved configuration files can be selected and loaded from the dialogue displayed by selecting **File:Load Configuration**.

The four most recently referenced configurations can be loaded directly from the **File** menu.

6.9 Exporting a region

If you want to export the sequence data from a specific region as a text file:

- 1. Select the region.
- 2. Select File:Export Region. The Export dialogue is shown.
- 3. Enter a name for the exported file and click on **OK**.

6.10 Printing a report

You can print a report about the configuration you have created.

6.10.1 Configuration report options

1. Click on **Options:Report Options**.

Report Options	
Contents ✓ Fragments	ОК
Exons Areas of Interest	Cancel
 Points of Interest Overview Graph 	

Figure 6-36. Report Options dialogue

2. In the **Report Option** dialogue, check the options you want to be incorporated in a report.

6.10.2 Printing the configuration

Select **File:Print Configuration Report** to obtain a printout of the configuration information and/or overview graph. You can also display the Windows 95 printer dialogues if you want to change the printer setup parameters.

6.11 Converting from a genomic DNA to a mRNA/cDNA configuration

If you have created a genomic DNA configuration with defined exons, you can convert this to a mRNA/cDNA configuration that contains only the exon information.

To make the conversion select **File:Convert to mRNA/cDNA Configuration**. In making the conversion you will be warned that sequence information between the exons will be lost in addition to other objects such as sequencer fragments, areas/points of interest and mutation statistics between the exons.

If the exons in a gene configuration are *non-contiguous*, as a general rule you will not be able to convert the whole configuration to mRNA/cDNA. Only those exons in the *first contiguous exons* for which an amino acid sequence has been generated will be converted.

In *special* cases only, such as for the BRCA1 gene configuration where the non-coding Exon 4 is not included, non-contiguous exons can be converted to a mRNA/cDNA configuration (see Section 6.7.2).

You are prompted to save converted configurations under a new file name.

6.12 Exiting the application

To exit the Configuration Editor application, select File:Exit.

6.13 Examples of some configurations

Presented here are three gene configurations:

6.13.1 Ret genomic DNA gene configuration

Points of interest objects detailing known mutation sites [5] have been included in this gene configuration. These can be used to generate hotspot deviations in the analysis and be included in the interactive confirmation process (see Section 5.2.4).



Figure 6-37. Ret genomic DNA gene configuration comprising 3 regions, 3 exons, 10, 11, 16, and areas of interest for each exon.

6.13.2 BRCA1 genomic DNA gene configuration

This gene configuration is divided into 22 regions and contains 24 exons. The non-coding Exon 4 is not included in the configuration. Exon 1 does not contain coding sequence so is not used to generate the amino acid sequence.



Figure 6-38. BRCA1 genomic DNA gene configuration comprising 22 regions and Exons 1 to 24 excepting the non-coding Exons 1 and 4.

6.13.3 p53 cDNA gene configuration

This configuration could easily be assigned amino acid data using the **Define Region** dialogue (see Section 6.7.4).



Figure 6-39. p53 cDNA gene configuration comprising four sequencer fragments.

7. Troubleshooting

This chapter should help you to identify and correct possible hardware problems associated with using Mutation Analyser. Messages displayed in Mutation Analyser and Configuration Editor that require special user actions are also included.

7.1 PC hardware

Symptom	Possible cause and/or corrective measures	Refer to
Screen blank	1. Check power cable and internal/external fuses	
	2. Check light/ contrast settings on CRT	CRT Screen manual
Message "Non- system disk or disk error" on start-up	Remove the diskette in the disk drive and restart	
Other start-up failure messages	Bad configuration or system failure	Check PC user's manual or contact local Amersham Biosciences Service Support

7.2 Printer

Symptom	Possible cause and/or corrective measures	Refer to
Communication failure	1. Check that the printer is On Line	Printer. manual.
	2. Check communication cables	
No message about paper when plotting	Print manager has to be open in the background and active	
Garbled or no printout	Check printer setup	

7.3 Software

Message	Possible cause	Required action
"filename" Column information differs. Use existing column order instead?	When trying to append data to an existing database file and the "column order" was different to the existing file column format.	Press OK and the same format previously used in the file will be used. Otherwise the export to database operation will be cancelled.
"filename" does not exist.	When selecting a file from the most recently used (MRU) list that is no longer available.	Open the file from another directory or open a new file.
Can't calculate "clonename", sequence data not available.	When a sample is being analysed that does not contain sequence data.	Use a new sample.
Can't add more samples to this analysis item.	When out of memory.	Try closing other applications or restart the computer.
Can't open clone. No sequence data available. Checksum is incorrect, file has been modified, aborting load.	The file being opened is corrupt.	Corrupted files cannot be used. Recreate the source file to be opened.
Can't open internal file to present deviations.	During deviation calculation.	Try closing other applications or increase the number of file handles available (FILES in config.sys)

7.3.1 Mutation Analyser

Can't open sample "filename and clone" Not able to open "filename". Couldn't open analysis item file. Error when opening gene configuration file.	File not found or already in use.	Place file in the appropriate directory or close this file if in use in another application.
Could not copy graph view to printer.	When printing a deviation report and the application cannot copy the graph image.	Free some disc space or memory. Empty the clip- board
Error when loading analysis result, no deviations loaded for instance "instance".	During deviation calculation.	Try closing other applications or increase number of file handles available (FILES in config.sys)
Error when opening gene configuration file "description" Error when reading analysis file "description"	When there was an unpredicted error during loading.	Try again.
Error when writing report to "filename" "description" Aborting.	When an unpredicted error occurred when writing a report to file or exporting result to a database file.	Try again.
Error while saving sample sequence changes. Error when saving edited sequence (+ description).	When saving revisions to the sample sequence.	Restart the computer.

Troubleshooting _____

τ	l l	
Internal error (+		Send a bug
description)		report to
		Amersham
		Blosciences.
		Destant
		Restart
		computer
		T T
More than 500 clones	When using the Add Batch	Use more
found, aborting search.	Samples functions and the	narrow search
	search criteria are too	criteria.
	broau.	
No devictions left	When concreting quality	Add complex
NO deviations left,	When generating quanty	Aud samples.
calculation failed.	data and an mes nave been	
	reference fragments	
	present	
	present.	
Not able to load	During deviation	Try closing other
alignment info	calculation	applications or
angiment nuo.	Calculation.	increasing the
		number of file
		handles available
		(FILES in
		config svs)
		com.5.5,5,
Not able to open	When printing a report to	Close the file if
"filename"	file or exporting results to	already in use or
"description"	a database file. The file	remove any
1	may already be in use or	write protection.
	write protected.	···· ·· ·
	*	
Not able to open	When the ALF/ALX file	Return the
ALF/ALX file	referenced by the current	ALF/ALX file to
"filename and clone".	analysis item could not be	its original
	found probably because it	directory or add
No graph data will be	has been moved to another	the ALF/ALX
available.	directory.	file again as a
		new sample
Not able to open	When out of memory.	Try closing other
graph view, out of		applications or
memory.		restart the
		computer.

Not able to read checksum, file is corrupt. Not able to read deviations information, file is corrupt. Not able to read options settings, file is corrupt.	The file being opened is corrupt.	Corrupted files cannot be used. Recreate the source file to be opened.
Not able to restore header contents, file may be corrupt.	When appending data to a database file and choosing to use the existing column information. This message occurs if the application cannot decode the existing file.	Corrupted files cannot be used. Create a new database file.
Not able to save analysis item.	When there is not enough disc space or out of memory.	Free up disc space or memory. Restart the computer.
Not enough memory available to calculate deviations.		Try closing other applications or restart the computer.
Specified gene configuration file is corrupt.	When the file being loaded is corrupt.	Corrupted files cannot be used. Recreate the source file to be opened.
Specified gene configuration was not loaded, no fragments are defined.	Error when loading a gene configuration that does not contain a sequencer fragment in the first region.	Redefine the current gene configuration or use another.

The available printer fonts may not produce a correct layout.	When trying to print a report on a printer which does not support the fonts "Courier" or "Courier New", or is a "Line Printer".	Use another printer.
Too short sequence to calculate modulation factor.	When the sequence contained in the loaded ALF/ALX file was too short to calculate any modulation factor.	Try again (maybe change filename).
Wrong file format: Not an Analysis Item file	When the file being opened is not an analysis item file.	Open a file type designated .itm

7.4 Other problems

High background in your sample sequence

If you experience high background in your sample sequence leading to unresolved base calling, you should try applying a different post run action sensitivity to your sample sequence in the sequencing software.

Incomplete GenBank data imported

If you do not get any locus or type information in a GenBank file, this may be due to the use of a non-appropriate file format, e.g. html format, when importing the file from the Internet. Establish how native GenBank format files are produced by your favourite sequence database search engine.

A. Evaluation algorithms

Detection and classification of wild type deviations in sequence data

The method used for the detection and classification of wild type deviations in sequence data provided by the automatic sequencer, is based on the dynamic programming algorithm originally proposed by Needleman and Wunsch [2]. The method is reviewed in a more recent paper by Pearson and Miller [3].

The method has been further extended with some functions dedicated to the present application. A condensed description of the different steps involved is given below:

1. The sample sequence is aligned to the different sequence fragments specified by the gene configuration.

For each configuration fragment an alignment is found that optimises the score defined by the following score table when summed up for the entire sequence length:

Event	Score	
Matching base	+1	
Mismatching base	-1	
Matching ambiguity	0	
Mismatching ambiguity	-1	
Gap	-1 (independen	t of gap length)

The matching ambiguity event occurs when there is an ambiguous base call in the sample sequence comprising a base component that matches the aligned base in the configuration fragment.

The mismatching ambiguity event occurs when there is an ambiguous base call in the sample sequence not comprising as a component the base found at the corresponding position in the configuration fragment.

- 2. The alignment algorithm is optionally applied both on the straight sequence as obtained from the sequencer and on the complementary reversed sequence.
- 3. The alignment item for the configuration fragment and the sample sequence direction showing the highest score is assumed to be the right one and is used for further calculations.
- 4. A list of deviations is derived from the best alignment. The deviations are labelled according to the following table:

a.) Point: Mismatching nucleic acid base code.

Example:

b.) Ambig: Base code comprising two or three nucleic acid base components.

Example: (Matching ambiguity event according to score table notation).

Example: (Mismatching ambiguity event according to score table notation).

A

c.) SeqStop; Base code comprising all four nucleic acid base components.

Example:

d.) Insert: Explicit gap of any length in the wild type sequence.

e.) Delete: Explicit gap of any length in the sample sequence.

B. Export to database

A typical use of the **Export Result to Database** function is illustrated in Figure B-1. The results from all the *analysis items* produced in a clinical evaluation study are exported to a *Microsoft Access* database together with information about the individuals and information from an external mutation database. The different pieces of information are then processed together using the tools available in Microsoft Access and different kinds of reports, as well as statistics diagrams, are produced.



Figure B-1. Scheme showing the typical use of the Export Result to Database function

The procedure used for exporting data to the *Microsoft Access* environment is described in more detail:

- Note: Data can be exported to other database environments in a similar way.
- 1. After you have evaluated all the analysis items included in your study, open the first Analysis item and select File:Export Result to Database.
- 2. In the **Export to Database** dialogue box that is displayed, enter a suitable file name and click the **OK** button. The information extracted from the analysis item will now be saved in the chosen

file. For later use, it is recommended that you take a note of the directory path where the file is stored.

- 3. Repeat for all other analysis items to be included, except export to the the same file name as created in step 2. The information extracted from all analysis items will now be appended to the original file. The file can now be imported into *Microsoft Access* or any similar database environment.
- 4. Open *Microsoft Access*. It is assumed that this application has been previously installed on your system. Refer to *Microsoft Access* documentation for further information.
- 5. Using *Microsoft Access*, create a new database using the File:New Database menu command.
- 6. Chose a suitable file name and click the **OK** button. Note that this should not be the same file name as the one used in steps 1-3.
- 7. Import the data from the analysis items using the File:Import menu command.
- 8. Choose **Text (Delimited)** as the data source and click on the **OK** button.
- 9. Select the file you created in steps 1-3 and click the **Import** button.
- 10. In the Import Text Options dialogue box, select First Row Contains Field Names.
- 11. Click on the **Options** button. Set the **Text Delimiter** as **None** and **Field Separator** as **Tab**.
- 12. Click on the **OK** button to import data.
- 13. Close the **Select File** dialogue box. The data from your study is now available for further processing or examination within the *Microsoft Access* environment.
- Note: You can now erase the file that you created in steps 1-3 to save disk space.
- 14. Data from other sources, e. g. mutation databases, information about the samples and the individuals included in the study, can be imported into the database as separate tables in a similar way. Refer to the *Microsoft Access* documentation for information on document preparation.

15. Finally, the information in the different tables can be linked together based on fields with common information and different kinds of reports, or statistics can be derived using the graphical design tools provided in the *Microsoft Access* development environment. Refer to the *Microsoft Access* documentation for details.

C. Cited literature

- [1] Beaudet, A.L. and Tsui, L.C. (1993) Human Mutation, 2, 245-248.
- [2] Needleman, S. and Wunsch, C. (1970) J. Mol. Biol. 48, 444.
- [3] Pearson, W.R. and Miller, W. (1992) Methods in Enzymology, 210, 575.
- [4] Various sources: Anderson, S. et al (1981) Nature, 290, 547; Borst, P. (1980-81) International Cell Biology, H.G. Schweiger, ed. Springer-Verlag, p. 239; Breitenberger, C. and Rajbhandary, L. (1985) Trends in Biochem. Sci., 10, 478-483.
- [5] Donis-Keller, H. et al (1993) Human Molecular Genetics, 2, 851-856.

Index

Α

adding batch samples, 4-6 adding objects to a region, 6-12 adding reference fragments, 4-4 adding samples, 4-3 adjusting sample sequence bases mutation analyser, 4-32 adjusting sequence bases configuration editor, 6-11 ALF/ALX sequences defining a region, 6-2 algorithms, A-1 alignment deviations alignment field, 4-20 alignment field, 4-19 alignment deviations, 4-20 sequencing direction, 4-19 ambiguity codes, 5-3 ambiguity deviations, 5-3 amino acid changes, 5-2 amino acid sequence genomic DNA contiguous exons, 6-25 non-contiguous exons, 6-28 mRNA/cDNA, 6-30 translation. 6-31 wrong reading frame, 6-29 analysis comments, 4-30 analysis item adding samples, 4-3 components of, 4-2 creating new, 4-2 loading, 4-8 raw data curves field, 4-6 removing a sample, 4-8 sample information, 4-5 samples, 4-5 analysis overview overview display options, 4-29 selecting a deviation, 4-28 zoom function. 4-27 area of interest object adding to region, 6-15 ASCII file sequences defining a region, 6-7

assignment bar, 4-25 insertion - deletion deviations, 5-10 mixture insertion - deletion, 5-20 single base deviations, 5-7 associating a sample sequence to a fragment, 4-11 autodefining exon objects, 6-18

С

changing the raw data curves field size, 4-21 changing user, 4-36 cited literature, C-1 codon translation options for amino acid sequence, 6-31 comments about the analysis, 4-30 computer requirements, 2-1 configuration editor exiting, 6-33 generating an amino acid sequence, 6-25 new gene configuration, 6-1 zoom function, 6-8 contiguous exons generating an amino acid sequence, 6-25 converting from genomic DNA to mRNA/cDNA, 6-33 creating a new analysis item, 4-2

D

defining a gene configuration region, 6-2 defining an object gene configuration overview, 6-11 defining several gene configuration regions, 6-21 deleting a region, 6-24 deleting objects, 6-20 deviation calculation options, 4-9 deviation types, 5-1 deviations ambiguities, 5-3 golden rules, 5-29 hotspots, 5-6 insertion - deletion, 5-9 mixture insertion - deletion, 5-12 point replacements, 5-2 sequence stops, 5-5 single base, 5-1 deviations calculation, 4-9; 4-11 deviations information, 4-18

deviations table, 4-14 increased size, 4-14 deviations table options, 4-14

Ε

editing objects, 6-20 editing the sample sequence mutation analyser, 4-32 editing the sequence configuration editor, 6-11 evaluation algorithms, A-1 exiting configuration editor, 6-33 exiting mutation analyser, 4-37 exon object adding to region, 6-13 defining by case, 6-18 importing from GenBank, 6-6 export report, 4-35 export report options, 4-35 export to database, B-1 exporting a region, 6-32 extent of objects, 6-16

F

finding a sequence configuration editor, 6-9 forcing alignment, 4-11 full raw data view, 4-21 full zoom out, 4-21

G

gap in mixture analysis, 5-22 GenBank sequences defining a region, 6-5 gene configuration BRCA1 genomic DNA, 6-35 converting from genomic DNA to mRNA/cDNA, 6-33 examples, 1-4; 6-34 hide data, 4-14 loading, 4-2; 6-32 new, 6-1 p53 cDNA, 6-36 Ret genomic DNA, 6-34 saving, 6-32 gene configuration description, 6-1 gene configuration field, 4-2 generating hotspot deviations, 4-10 golden rules, 5-29

Π

hardware requirements, 2-1 HASP[®] software protection, 1-3 hide gene configuration data, 4-14 hotspot deviations, 5-6 generating, 4-10 hotspots example of generating deviations, 5-6

T

importing exons from GenBank, 6-6 insertion - deletion deviation assignment, 5-10 insertion - deletion deviations, 5-9 installing HLA SequiTyper, 3-1 installing the software, 3-1 interactive assignment options, 4-17

Κ

key features, 1-1

L

loading a gene configuration, 4-2; 6-32 loading an analysis item, 4-8

М

```
max probe length in mixture analysis, 5-25
mixture analysis, 5-15
advanced options, 5-23
gap, 5-22
max probe length, 5-25
no gap, 5-21
probability limit, 5-23
required valley, 5-24
results, 5-17
shift range, 5-16
```

mixture assignment, 5-20 mixture assignment bar, 5-21 mixture graph, 5-24 mixture assignment theory, 5-25 mixture graph in mixture analysis, 5-24 mixture insertion - deletion deviations assignment bar, 5-20 causes, 5-12 mixture analysis, 5-15 recognising, 5-13 mRNA/cDNA generating an amino acid sequence, 6-30 multiple deviations user assignment, 5-8 multiple sets of raw data curves, 4-23 mutation analyser background, 1-1 exiting, 4-37 installation, 3-1 key features, 1-1 starting the application, 4-1 uninstallation, 3-2 mutation frequency statistics, 6-20

Ν

no gap in mixture analysis, 5-21 non-contiguous exons generating an amino acid sequence, 6-28

0

object extents, 6-16 overview options, 4-29 overview options, 4-29

Ρ

performing an analysis, 4-9; 4-11 point of interest object adding to region, 6-16 for generating hotspots, 6-16 point replacement deviations, 5-2 amino acid changes, 5-2 printers, 2-1 printing a gene configuration report, 6-32 printing a report, 4-33 probability limit in mixture analysis, 5-23

Q

quality summary, 4-11 setting limits, 4-10

R

raw data curves, 4-20 changing window display size, 4-21 multiple sets of raw data curves, 4-23 rawdata shift correction. 4-22 separate amplitude scales, 4-22 raw data curves field mixture analysis, 5-19 zoom function, 4-21 rawdata shift correction, 4-22 rearranging regions, 6-22 reference fragments, 4-4 referenced literature, C-1 region adding objects, 6-12 adding several, 6-21 defining, 6-3; 6-6; 6-8 amino acid sequence mRNA/cDNA, 6-30 defining in configuration editor, 6-2 delete, 6-24 deleting objects, 6-20 editing objects, 6-20 exporting, 6-32 naming, 6-3; 6-6; 6-8 rearranging the order, 6-22 selecting objects, 6-20 using ALF/ALX sequences, 6-2 using ASCII file sequences, 6-7 using GenBank sequences, 6-5 removing a sample, 4-8 report export, 4-35 export report options, 4-35 export to database, 4-35 options, 4-33 options for configuration editor, 6-32 print to file, 4-35 printing, 4-33 printing the gene configuration, 6-32

required valleyin mixture analysis, 5-24 revert to pending status, 5-12

S

sample information, 4-20 sample information field, 4-5 samples field, 4-5 save analysis item, 4-8 save analysis item as, 4-8 save settings for options, 4-30 saving a gene configuration, 6-32 searching for object extents, 6-16 selecting a deviation in analysis overview, 4-28 selecting objects, 6-20 separate amplitude scales, 4-22 separate raw data scrollbars, 4-25 sequence finding in configuration editor, 6-9 sequence stop deviations, 5-5 sequencer fragment adding to region, 6-13 ambiguities in ALF/ALX sequence, 6-4 automatic generation in gene configuration, 6-4 sequencing direction alignment field, 4-19 setting quality summary limits, 4-10 shift range, 5-16 show sample information, 4-20 single base deviation, 5-1 assignment bar, 5-7 single base deviation assignment, 5-7 user detected deviation. 5-28 software installation, 3-1 software protection, 1-3 software uninstallation, 3-2 starting the application, 4-1

T

translation amino acid sequence, 6-31 troubleshooting, 7-1 typographical conventions, 1-4

U

understanding mixture analysis, 5-25 undo an assignment, 5-12 uninstalling the software, 3-2 user assignment insertion - deletion deviations, 5-10 mixture insertion - deletion, 5-20 multiple deviations, 5-8 single base deviations, 5-7 user detected deviation, 5-28 user identification, 4-1 changing user, 4-36

W

Windows 95, 1-3; 2-1 wrong reading frame generating an amino acid sequence, 6-29

Ζ

zoom function. analysis overview, 4-27 configuration editor, 6-8 raw data curves field, 4-21

